AN EXERCISE IN AUTOMORPHIC COHOMOLOGY – THE CASE GL_2 OVER A QUATERNION ALGEBRA

NEVEN GRBAC AND JOACHIM SCHWERMER

To Stephen S. Kudla on the occasion of his 60th birthday

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Automorphic Forms, Eisenstein Series, and Cohomology	4
1. Spaces of Automorphic Forms	5
2. Automorphic Cohomology	7
3. Eisenstein Series	8
II. Jacquet–Langlands Correspondence	10
1. A k-rank One Form of the General Linear Group: $GL(2, D)$	11
2. Local Jacquet–Langlands Correspondence	13
3. Global Jacquet–Langlands Correspondence	17
III. Automorphic Cohomology of General Linear Groups – a Comparison	21
1. Cohomological Representations at Archimedean Places	21
2. The Automorphic Cohomology of the General Linear Group $G = Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(4)/k$	24
3. The Automorphic Cohomology of $G' = Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2,D)$	27

INTRODUCTION

0.1. Automorphic cohomology. Let G be a connected reductive algebraic Q-group. The case of interest for us will be the group $Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ obtained from a connected reductive algebraic group H defined over an algebraic number field k by restriction of scalars. The automorphic cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ of G, is usually defined as the relative Lie algebra cohomology group

$$H^*(G,E) = H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E),$$

of G where \mathcal{A}_E denotes the space of automorphic forms on $G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$ with respect to coefficient system originating with a finite-dimensional algebraic representation of G. We refer to Sect. 1 in Chapter I for unexplained notation \mathfrak{m}_G and $K_{\mathbb{R}}$. This cohomology reflects a deep relation between the cohomology of arithmetic subgroups of G and the corresponding theory of automorphic forms.

By use of the notion of cuspidal support for an automorphic form one obtains a finer decomposition of the automorphic cohomology. Let C be the set of classes of associate parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroups of G. Given $\{P\}$ a class of associate parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroups of G, let $\phi = \{\phi_R\}_{R \in \{P\}}$ be a class of associate irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of the Levi components of elements of $\{P\}$ as defined in [10, Section 1.2.]. The set of all such collections $\phi = \{\phi_R\}_{R \in \{P\}}$ is denoted by $\Phi_{E,\{P\}}$. Given a class $\{P\}$ of associate parabolic

Date: September 15, 2010.

²⁰⁰⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 11F75, 22E40; Secondary 11F70, 57R95.

Key words and phrases. automorphic representations, Eisenstein series, arithmetic groups.

Second author's work supported in part by FWF Austrian Science Fund, grant number P 21090 - N13.

Q-subgroups of G, we denote by $V_G(\{P\})$ the space of smooth functions on $G(\mathbb{A})$ of uniform moderate growth which are negligible along every parabolic Q-subgroups $Q \notin \{P\}$. Then, given any $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P\}}$, we let

$$\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi} = \left\{ f \in V_G(\{P\}) \mid f_R \in \bigoplus_{\pi \in \phi_R} L^2_{\mathrm{cusp},\pi}(L_R,\omega_\pi) \otimes S(\check{\mathfrak{a}}_R^G) \text{ for all } R \in \{P\} \right\}$$

be the space of functions in $V_G(\{P\})$ whose constant term along each $R \in \{P\}$ belongs to the isotypic components attached to the elements $\pi \in \phi_R$ of the space of cuspidal automorphic forms on the Levi components L_R . Then, by [10, Thm 1.4 resp. 2.3] or [24, Thm in III, 2.6], the automorphic cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ has a direct sum decomposition

$$H^*(G,E) = \bigoplus_{\{P\}\in\mathcal{C}} \bigoplus_{\phi\in\Phi_{E,\{P\}}} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

where, given $\{P\} \in \mathcal{C}$, the second sum ranges over the set $\Phi_{E,\{P\}}$ of classes of associate irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of the Levi components of elements of $\{P\}$.

The summand in the direct sum decomposition of the cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ that is indexed by the full group $\{G\}$ is called the cuspidal cohomology of G with coefficients in E, and denoted by $H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G, E)$. Due to the results in [8], the cohomology classes in the remaining summands can be described by suitable derivatives of Eisenstein series or residues of these. These classes span the so called Eisenstein cohomology, to be denoted $H^*_{\text{Eis}}(G, E)$.

0.2. The case GL(2) and inner forms. We now suppose that the semi-simple rank $\operatorname{rk}_{\mathbb{Q}}G = 1$. This is the case for $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ if $\operatorname{rk}_{k}H = 1$. Then there is exactly one $G(\mathbb{Q})$ -conjugacy class \mathcal{P} of proper parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroups of G, and the associate class $\{P\}$ of such a parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup P coincides with \mathcal{P} . Thus the decomposition above reduces to direct sum decomposition

$$H^*(G, E) = H^*_{\mathrm{cusp}}(G, E) \oplus \bigoplus_{\phi \in \Phi_{E, \{P\}}} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E).$$

In the case of the general linear group H = GL(2)/k, Harder describes in [17] in detail which types (in the sense of [26]) of Eisenstein cohomology classes occur and how their actual construction is related to the analytic properties of certain Euler products (or automorphic L-functions) attached to π . In the general case of a k-rank one group H, the results in [16] present a premature form of the decomposition above. However, the internal structure of the Eisenstein cohomology, in particular, the very existence of residual Eisenstein cohomology classes are still open questions in this generality.

By use of the twisted trace formula one can detect cuspidal automorphic representations for the group GL(2)/k (or variants thereof) which give rise to non-vanishing cuspidal cohomology classes. Then one can use the Jacquet-Langlands correspondence [18] between cuspidal automorphic representations for GL(2) and automorphic representations for its inner forms to construct non-vanishing cohomology classes for these inner forms. This had, for example, interesting applications in the study of arithmetically defined compact hyperbolic 3-manifolds in [20], resp. [28].

0.3. The case GL(2) over a central division algebra. In this paper our object of concern is the following case: Let D be a central division k-algebra of degree d defined over an algebraic number field k. Then the connected reductive k-group GL(2, D) is of semi-simple k-rank 1; it is a k-form of the general linear k-group GL(2d). Up to conjugacy, a minimal parabolic k-subgroup Q of GL(2, D) has the form Q = LN with Levi component $L \cong GL(1, D) \times GL(1, D)$, and N the unipotent radical of Q. In recent work, Badulescu [1] and Badulescu-Renard [2] established a generalization of the global Jacquet-Langlands correspondence to the case GL(n)/k and its inner forms. It is based on the local Jacquet-Langlands correspondence for unitary representations which they define. Unlike the local Jacquet-Langlands correspondence of Deligne-Kazhdan-Vignéras [7] for square-integrable representations which is a bijection, this generalization is neither injective

3

nor surjective, and there are unitary representations on both sides not involved in the correspondence. Nevertheless, it suffices for defining the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence. For more details see Sect. 2 and Sect. 3 in Chapter II.

However, it is our objective to understand what the implications of the general Jacquet–Langlands correspondence are for the investigation of the automorphic cohomology of the group $Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2,D)$ obtained from GL(2,D) by restriction of scalars. Of course, a detailed understanding of the automorphic cohomology of the group $Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2d)/k$ obtained from the split k-group GL(2d) by restriction of scalars is fundamental for such an analysis.

Being modest in our aim we focus on the case of a quaternion division algebra D over k. Then the group H' = GL(2, D) is an inner form of the general linear group H = GL(4)/k of semi-simple k-rank 3. We are interested in the automorphic cohomology of the Q-groups $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ and $G' = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H'$ obtained from H and H', respectively, by restriction of scalars. Starting from the decomposition of the automorphic cohomology along the cuspidal support as described in Sect. 0.1 in both cases, namely G and G', we make a comparison of the internal structure of the individual summands involved in this description. The general Jacquet–Langlands correspondence, made explicit in the case of the group H and its inner form H', provides a relation between the automorphic representations on both sides. However, due to some subtle issues, this relation is not at all carried over to the cohomological frame work. This investigation has to be seen as a first attempt to understand where the obstacles for a direct "cohomological comparison" are. Some of them, for example, originate in the still not well understood cohomological contribution of automorphic representations which occur in the discrete spectrum of the underlying algebraic k-group but are non–cuspidal.

Our work includes

- a structural description of the automorphic cohomology of $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(4)/k$, in particular, of the Eisenstein cohomology
- an explicit description (up to infinitesimal equivalence) of the irreducible unitary representations of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ with non-zero cohomology
- making explicit the local and the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence in the case GL(4)/k
- a structural description of the automorphic cohomology of $G' = Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2, D)$, in particular, of the Eisenstein cohomology
- a non-vanishing result for the cuspidal cohomology $H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G',\mathbb{C})$ of $G' = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2,D)$
- understanding in which way residues of Eisenstein series may give rise to non-trivial classes in the automorphic cohomology of $G' = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2,D)$ and $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(4)/k$ respectively, and how their very existence may be understood in terms of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence.

These results are contained in Part III of this paper. In Part I, we define the automorphic cohomology, and recall its decomposition along the cuspidal support. We also discuss some background material in the theory of Eisenstein series. Part II deals with the general Jacquet–Langlands correspondence. Although the local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence for unitary representations seems quite complicated, it gives the crucial local ingredients for the definition of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence. This global correspondence between discrete spectra of a general linear group and its inner form is defined and proved in Badulescu [1] and Badulescu–Renard [2]. It seems much more natural than the local correspondences required for its definition. We precisely describe the local and global correspondence in the case GL(4)/k. This amounts to an explicit enumeration of the unitary representations involved in this correspondence.

Notation

(1) Let k be an arbitrary finite extension of the field \mathbb{Q} of rational numbers. The set of places of k will be denoted by V, while V_{∞} (resp. V_f) will refer to the set of archimedean (resp. non-archimedean) places of k. The completion of k at a place $v \in V$ is denoted by k_v , and its ring of integers by \mathcal{O}_v , $v \in V_f$. In the case $k = \mathbb{Q}$, the ring of integers of \mathbb{Q}_v will be denoted by \mathbb{Z}_v , $v \in V_f$. Let \mathbb{A}_k (resp. \mathbb{I}_k) be the ring of adèles (resp. the group of idèles) of k. We denote by $\mathbb{A}_{k,f}$ the finite adèles of k. For $k = \mathbb{Q}$ we suppress the subscript from the notation.

Let D be a division algebra central over k. Let d be the degree of D over k. We denote by V_D a finite set of places $v \in V$ of k such that D does not split at $v \in V_D$, and splits at $v \notin V_D$. In other words, $D \otimes_k k_v$ is isomorphic to the matrix algebra $M_d(k_v)$ of $d \times d$ matrices over k_v at places $v \notin V_D$, while it is isomorphic to a matrix algebra of smaller square matrices with entries in a division algebra D_v over k_v at places $v \in V_D$.

(2) The algebraic groups we consider will be linear groups, i.e., such a group H defined over a field k is affine viewed as an algebraic variety. We fix an embedding $\rho: H \longrightarrow GL_n$ (defined over k) of G into some general linear group.

If H is an algebraic group defined over a field k, and k' is a commutative k-algebra containing k, we denote by H(k') the group of k'-valued points of H. When k' is a field containing k we denote by H/k' the k' algebraic group $H \times_k k'$ obtained from H by extending the ground field from k to k'. On the other hand, if H is an algebraic group defined over a field k, and k' a field contained in k, we denote by $Res_{k/k'}H$ the algebraic group defined over k' obtained from H by restriction of scalars from k to k'.

(3) Let G be a connected reductive algebraic group defined over \mathbb{Q} . Suppose that a minimal parabolic \mathbb{Q} subgroup P_0 of G and a Levi decomposition $P_0 = L_0 N_0$ of P_0 over \mathbb{Q} have been fixed. By definition, a standard parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup of G is a parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup P of G with $P_0 \subset P$. Then P has a unique Levi decomposition $P = L_P N_P$ over \mathbb{Q} such that $L_P \supset L_0$. When the dependency on the parabolic subgroup is clear from the context, we suppress the subscript P from the notation.

Let A_P be the maximal Q-split torus in the center of L_P . In the case of the minimal parabolic Q-subgroup P_0 we write $A_0 = A_{P_0}$. Then there is a unique Langlands decomposition $P = M_P A_P N_P$ with $M_P \supset M_0$ and $A_P \subset A_0$.

Let $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{p}, \ldots$ denote the Lie algebras of $G(\mathbb{R}), P(\mathbb{R}), \ldots$, respectively. The Lie algebras of the factors in the Langlands decomposition of P will be denoted by $\mathfrak{m}_P, \mathfrak{a}_P, \mathfrak{n}_P$, and $\mathfrak{l}_P = \mathfrak{m}_P + \mathfrak{a}_P$. We put $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0 = X^*(P_0) \otimes \mathbb{R}$, where X^* denotes the group of \mathbb{Q} -rational characters, and similarly for a given standard parabolic Q-subgroup $P \supset P_0, \check{\mathfrak{a}}_P = X^*(P) \otimes \mathbb{R}$. Then $\mathfrak{a}_P = X_*(A_P) \otimes \mathbb{R}$, where X_* denotes the group of \mathbb{Q} -rational cocharacters, and $\mathfrak{a}_0 = X_*(A_0) \otimes \mathbb{R}$ are in a natural way in duality with $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_P$ and $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0$; the pairing is denoted by \langle , \rangle . In particular, \mathfrak{a}_P and \mathfrak{a}_0 are independent of the Langlands decomposition up to canonical isomorphism. The inclusion $A_P \subset A_0$ defines $\mathfrak{a}_P \to \mathfrak{a}_0$, and the restriction of characters of P to P_0 defines $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_P \to \check{\mathfrak{a}}_0$ which is inverse to the dual of the previous map. Thus, one has direct sum decompositions $\mathfrak{a}_0 = \mathfrak{a}_P \oplus \mathfrak{a}_0^P$ and $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0 = \check{\mathfrak{a}}_P \oplus \check{\mathfrak{a}}_0^P$ respectively. Let \mathfrak{a}_P^Q be the intersection of \mathfrak{a}_P and \mathfrak{a}_0^Q in \mathfrak{a}_0 . Similar notation is used for $\check{\mathfrak{a}}$. By \mathfrak{m}_G we denote the intersection $\cap \ker(d\chi)$ of the kernels of the differentials of all rational characters $\chi \in X^*(G)$. Then we put $\mathfrak{a}_P^G := \mathfrak{a}_P \cap \mathfrak{m}_G$; its dimension is called the rank of P. We use $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_P^G$ for its dual. We denote by $\Phi \subset X^*(A_0) \subset \check{\mathfrak{a}}_0$ the set of roots of A_0 in \mathfrak{g} ; it is a root system in the vector space $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0$. The ordering on Φ is fixed so that Φ^+ coincides with the set of roots of A_0 in P_0 . Let $\Delta \subset \Phi$ be the set of simple positive roots. Let $\mathfrak{a}_0^{G+} \subset \mathfrak{a}_0^G$ and $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0^{G+} \subset \check{\mathfrak{a}}_0^G$ be the open positive Weyl chambers determined by the choice of P_0 . Similarly, we denote the corresponding positive Weyl chambers by $\mathfrak{a}_P^{G+} \subset \mathfrak{a}_P^G$ and $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_P^{G+} \subset \check{\mathfrak{a}}_P^G$. If P is a standard parabolic Q-subgroup of G the Weyl group of A_0 in L_P is denoted by W_P . In particular, we write $W = W_G$ for the Weyl group of the root system Φ . Note that W_P is a subgroup of W.

I. AUTOMORPHIC FORMS, EISENSTEIN SERIES, AND COHOMOLOGY

In this chapter we recall the definitions and review important properties of automorphic forms, automorphic cohomology, and Eisenstein series on a connected reductive linear algebraic group defined over \mathbb{Q} . Although in the rest of the paper we also consider reductive groups defined over an arbitrary algebraic number field k, this will suffice because it can be considered as an algebraic group over \mathbb{Q} via the restriction of scalars from k to \mathbb{Q} . Then the \mathbb{A}_k -points of a k-group coincide with \mathbb{A} -points of the restriction of scalars viewed as a \mathbb{Q} -group.

1. Spaces of Automorphic Forms

1.1. **Parabolic subgroups.** Let G be a connected reductive linear algebraic group defined over \mathbb{Q} . Fix a minimal parabolic subgroup P_0 of G defined over \mathbb{Q} and a Levi subgroup L_0 of P_0 defined over \mathbb{Q} . One has the Levi decomposition $P_0 = L_0 N_0$ with unipotent radical N_0 . By definition, a standard parabolic subgroup P of G is a parabolic subgroup P of G defined over \mathbb{Q} that contains P_0 . Analogously, a standard Levi subgroup L_P of G is a Levi subgroup of any standard parabolic subgroup P of G such that L_P contains L_0 . A given standard parabolic subgroup P of G has a unique standard Levi subgroup L_P . We denote by $P = L_P N_P$ the corresponding Levi decomposition of P over \mathbb{Q} .

1.2. Iwasawa decomposition. By definition, the adèle group $G(\mathbb{A})$ of the group G is the direct product of the group $G(\mathbb{R})$ of real points of G and the restricted product $\prod_{v \in V_f} G(\mathbb{Q}_v) =: G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ with respect to the maximal compact subgroups $G(\mathbb{Z}_v) \subset G(\mathbb{Q}_v)$, $v \in V_f$. We fix a maximal compact subgroup K of $G(\mathbb{A})$ subject to the following condition. Since it is of the form $K = \prod_{v \in V} K_v$ where K_v is a maximal compact subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q}_v), v \in V$, we suppose (as we may) that $K_v = G(\mathbb{Z}_v)$ for almost all finite places $v \in V_f$. If vis archimedean we write $K_{\mathbb{R}}$ instead of K_v , and we write $K_f = \prod_{v \in V_f} K_v$. We may assume that the group K is in "good position" relative to P_0 (cf. [24, I, 1.6]).

For a given standard parabolic subgroup $P = L_P N_P$ of G one has the Iwasawa decomposition $G(\mathbb{A}) = L_P(\mathbb{A})N_P(\mathbb{A})K$. Then we can define the standard height function $H_P: G(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathfrak{a}_P$ on $G(\mathbb{A})$ by $\prod_{v \in V} |\chi(l)|_v = e^{\langle \chi, H_P(lnk) \rangle}$ for any character $\chi \in X^*(L_P) \subset \check{\mathfrak{a}}_P$.

1.3. Lie algebras. We denote by M_G the connected component of the intersection of the kernels of all \mathbb{Q} -rational characters of G, and by $\mathfrak{m}_G = \operatorname{Lie}(M_G(\mathbb{R}))$ the corresponding Lie algebra. Note that the maximal \mathbb{Q} -split torus A_G in the center of G reduces to the identity if G is a semi-simple group. In such a case, $\mathfrak{m}_G = \operatorname{Lie}(G(\mathbb{R}))$. In general, the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Lie}(G(\mathbb{R}))$ decomposes as a direct sum $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{a}_G \oplus \mathfrak{m}_G$ of Lie algebras where \mathfrak{a}_G denotes the Lie algebra of $A_G(\mathbb{R})$. In particular, \mathfrak{m}_G coincides with $\operatorname{Lie}(A_G(\mathbb{R})^\circ \setminus G(\mathbb{R}))$. The maximal compact subgroup $K_{\mathbb{R}}$ of $G(\mathbb{R})$ may be viewed as a subgroup of $A_G(\mathbb{R})^\circ \setminus G(\mathbb{R})$. A character $\chi \in X^*(G)$ defines a homomorphism $G(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathbb{I}$ of $G(\mathbb{A})$ into the group of idèles, also denoted by χ . We denote by $G(\mathbb{A})^1$ the subgroup

$$G(\mathbb{A})^{1} = \{g \in G(\mathbb{A}) \mid |\chi(g)|_{\mathbb{A}} = 1, \chi \in X^{*}(G)\}$$

of $G(\mathbb{A})$. One has a decomposition $G(\mathbb{A}) = A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \times G(\mathbb{A})^1$ as a direct product, and the group $G(\mathbb{A})^1$ can be identified with $A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \setminus G(\mathbb{A})$. In an analogous way, \mathfrak{m}_G can be identified with the Lie algebra $\operatorname{Lie}(A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \setminus (G(\mathbb{A}) \cap G(\mathbb{R})))$.

1.4. Functions of uniform moderate growth. We fix a height $\| \|$ on the adèle group $G(\mathbb{A})$. Let $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$ be the universal enveloping algebra of the complexification of the real Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . By definition, a C^{∞} -function $f: G(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathbb{C}$ is of uniform moderate growth on $G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus G(\mathbb{A})$ if

- f is K-finite (i.e., the set $\{f_k, k \in K\}$, where $f_k(g) = f(gk)$, spans a finite-dimensional space)
- there exists a constant r > 0, $r \in \mathbb{R}$, such that for all elements $D \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$ there is $c_D \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|Df(g)| \leq c_D ||g||^r$ for all $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$.
- f is invariant under left translation by elements of $G(\mathbb{Q})$.

We denote the space of such functions of uniform moderate growth by $V_{\text{umg}}(G)$. We write

$$V_G = C^{\infty}_{\text{umg}}(G(\mathbb{Q})A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \setminus G(\mathbb{A}))$$

for the space of smooth complex-valued functions of uniform moderate growth on $G(\mathbb{Q})A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ}\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$. The space V_G carries in a natural way the structure of a $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -module.

1.5. Automorphic forms. Let $\mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g})$ be the center of the universal enveloping algebra $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$. We call a function $f \in V_{\text{umg}}(G)$ an automorphic form on $G(\mathbb{A})$ if there exists an ideal $J \subset \mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g})$ of finite codimension that annihilates f. We denote the space of automorphic forms on $G(\mathbb{A})$ by $\mathcal{A}(G)$.

For a given character of $A_G(\mathbb{R})^\circ$, that is, a continuous homomorphism $\chi : A_G(\mathbb{R})^\circ \to \mathbb{C}^\times$, let $V(G, \chi)$ (resp. $\mathcal{A}(G, \chi)$) denote the subspace of functions f in $V_{\text{umg}}(G)$ (resp. $\mathcal{A}(G)$) so that $f(ag) = \chi(a)f(g)$ for all $a \in A_G(\mathbb{R})^\circ$ and each $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$. In the case of the trivial character $\chi = 1$, we have $V_G = V(G, 1)$, and we write $\mathcal{A}_G = \mathcal{A}(G, 1)$.

1.6. Constant term. Let $P = L_P N_P$ be a standard parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup of G. For a measurable locally integrable function f on $G(\mathbb{Q})\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$, the constant term of f along P is the function f_P on $N_P(\mathbb{A})L_P(\mathbb{Q})\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$ defined by

$$f_P: g \longmapsto \int_{N_P(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus N_P(\mathbb{A})} f(ng) dn , g \in G(\mathbb{A}),$$

where the Haar measure dn on $N_P(\mathbb{A})$ is normalized in such a way that one has $\operatorname{vol}_{dn}(N_P(\mathbb{Q})\setminus N_P(\mathbb{A})) = 1$. The assignment $f \longmapsto f_P$ is compatible with the actions of $\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ on these functions (if they are defined). If f is smooth (or has moderate growth) then f_P is smooth (or has moderate growth).

1.7. Cuspidal automorphic forms. For an automorphic form $f \in \mathcal{A}(G)$ we say that f is cuspidal if $f_P \equiv 0$ for all proper standard parabolic Q-subgroups of G. We denote the space of all cuspidal automorphic forms on $G(\mathbb{Q})\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$ by $\mathcal{A}_{\text{cusp}}(G)$. The space $\mathcal{A}_{\text{cusp}}(G)$ is equipped with a natural $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}, G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ - module structure.

1.8. L^2 automorphic forms. Let Z be the center of G, and ω a unitary character of $Z(\mathbb{Q})\setminus Z(\mathbb{A})$. We consider the space of L^2 automorphic forms with central character ω . It is the Hilbert space consisting of classes of measurable functions $f: G(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

- $f(\gamma g) = f(g)$ for $\gamma \in G(\mathbb{Q})$ and $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$,
- $f(zg) = \omega(z)f(g)$ for $z \in Z(\mathbb{A})$ and $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$,
- f is square-integrable modulo center, i.e., $\int_{Z(\mathbb{A})G(\mathbb{Q})\setminus G(\mathbb{A})} |f(g)|^2 dg < \infty$.

We denote this space by $L^2(G, \omega)$. The group $G(\mathbb{A})$ acts on $L^2(G, \omega)$ by right translations. Let $L^2_{\text{disc}}(G, \omega)$ be the subspace of $L^2(G, \omega)$ which is the sum of all irreducible subrepresentations. It is called the discrete spectrum of G. Its orthogonal complement is the continuous spectrum of G denoted by $L^2_{\text{cont}}(G, \omega)$. Let $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(G, \omega)$ be the subspace of the space $L^2(G, \omega)$ consisting of cuspidal square–integrable automorphic

Let $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(G,\omega)$ be the subspace of the space $L^2(G,\omega)$ consisting of cuspidal square–integrable automorphic forms, i.e., those classes in $L^2(G,\omega)$ represented by a measurable function f on $G(\mathbb{A})$ whose constant term $f_P(g) = 0$ for almost all $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ along all proper parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroups P. It is a closed $G(\mathbb{A})$ -invariant subspace of $L^2(G,\omega)$ called the cuspidal spectrum of G. Gelfand, Graev and Piatetski–Shapiro proved in [11] that it is semi–simple, and each irreducible subrepresentation appears with finite multiplicity. Hence, $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(G,\omega)$ is a subspace of $L^2_{\text{disc}}(G,\omega)$. The orthogonal complement of $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(G,\omega)$ in $L^2_{\text{disc}}(G,\omega)$ is the residual spectrum of G, denoted by $L^2_{\text{res}}(G,\omega)$.

Any cuspidal automorphic form in $\mathcal{A}_{cusp}(G)$, with a given central character ω , is square–integrable modulo center, since it is of rapid decay. On the other hand, the smooth K-finite functions in an irreducible subrepresentation of $L^2_{cusp}(G,\omega)$ belong to $\mathcal{A}_{cusp}(G)$. Such space of smooth K-finite functions in an irreducible subrepresentation of $L^2_{cusp}(G,\omega)$ is not a representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$, because the $K_{\mathbb{R}}$ -finiteness is not preserved. However, it is a $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -submodule of $\mathcal{A}_{cusp}(G)$, and, by abuse of language, we call it a cuspidal automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$. Similarly, the space of smooth $K_{\mathbb{R}}$ -finite functions in an irreducible subrepresentation of $L^2_{disc}(G,\omega)$ is only a $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -submodule of the space $\mathcal{A}(G)$. Nevertheless, we call it an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$ belonging to the discrete spectrum. See [5] for more details. 1.9. Decomposition along associate classes of parabolic subgroups. Two parabolic Q-subgroups Pand Q of G are said to be associate if their reductive components are conjugate by an element in $G(\mathbb{Q})$. This is equivalent to the condition that their split components are $G(\mathbb{Q})$ -conjugate. This notion induces an equivalence relation on the set $\mathcal{P}(G)$ of parabolic Q-subgroups of G. Given $P \in \mathcal{P}(G)$, we denote its equivalence class by $\{P\}$, to be called the associate class of P. Let \mathcal{C} be the set of classes of associate parabolic Q-subgroups of G. For $\{P\} \in \mathcal{C}$ denote by $V_G(\{P\})$ the space of elements in V_G that are negligible along Q for every parabolic Q-subgroup Q in $G, Q \notin \{P\}$, that is, given $Q = L_Q N_Q$, for all $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ the function $l \mapsto f_Q(lg)$ is orthogonal to the space of cuspidal functions on $A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ}L_Q(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus L_Q(\mathbb{A})$.

The space $V_G(\{P\}), \{P\} \in \mathcal{C}$, is a submodule in V_G with respect to its natural structure as $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ module. It is known that the $\sum V_G(\{P\}), \{P\} \in \mathcal{C}$, forms a direct sum. Finally, one has a decomposition as a direct sum of $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -modules

$$V_G = \bigoplus_{\{P\} \in \mathcal{C}} V_G(\{P\}).$$

This was first proved in [22], see [6, Theorem 2.4], for a variant of the original proof. This decomposition gives rise to a decomposition on the subspace \mathcal{A}_G of V_G .

2. Automorphic Cohomology

2.1. Definition of automorphic cohomology. Let (ν, E) be an irreducible finite-dimensional algebraic representation of $G(\mathbb{C})$ in a complex vector space. We suppose that $A_G(\mathbb{R})^\circ$ acts by a character on E, to be denoted by χ^{-1} . Let $J_E \subset \mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g})$ be the annihilator of the dual representation of E in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g})$. Let $\mathcal{A}_E \subset V_G$ be the subspace of functions $f \in V_G$ which are annihilated by a power of J_E . Then the spaces $\mathcal{A}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E$ and $V_G \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E$ both are naturally equipped with a $(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}})$ - module structure. By [8, Theorem 18], the inclusion

$$\mathcal{A}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E \longrightarrow V_G \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E$$

of the space of automorphic forms on G (with respect to (ν, E)) in the space of functions of uniform moderate growth induces an isomorphism on the level of $(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}})$ - cohomology, that is,

(2.1)
$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; V_G \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E).$$

Both cohomology spaces carry a $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -module structure induced by the one on \mathcal{A}_E and V_G respectively, and the isomorphism is compatible with this $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -module structure.

By Borel's regularization theorem, the latter group can be identified with the group

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; C^{\infty}(G(\mathbb{Q})A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \setminus G(\mathbb{A})) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

as a $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -module up to a twist. In fact, as explained in [10] we keep in mind that these cohomology groups have an interpretation as the inductive limit of the deRham cohomology groups $H^*(X_C, E)$ of the orbit space

$$X_C := G(\mathbb{Q})A_G(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \setminus G(\mathbb{A})/K_{\mathbb{R}}C$$

with coefficients in the local system given by the representation (ν, E) , where C ranges over the open compact subgroups of $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Thus, it is a natural framework to study the cohomology of congruence subgroups of $G(\mathbb{Q})$.

2.2. Decomposition along the cuspidal support. Let $\{P\}$ be a class of associate parabolic Q-subgroups of G, and let $\phi = \{\phi_R\}_{R \in \{P\}}$ be a class of associate irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of the Levi components of elements of $\{P\}$ as defined in [10, Section 1.2]. The set of all such collections $\phi = {\phi_R}_{R \in {P}}$ is denoted by $\Phi_{E,{P}}$. Given a class ${P}$ of associate parabolic Q-subgroups of G, and any $\phi \in \Phi_{E,{P}}$, we let

$$\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi} = \left\{ f \in V_G(\{P\}) \mid f_R \in \bigoplus_{\pi \in \phi_R} L^2_{\operatorname{cusp},\pi}(L_R,\omega_\pi) \otimes S(\check{\mathfrak{a}}_R^G) \text{ for all } R \in \{P\} \right\}$$

be the space of functions of uniform moderate growth whose constant term along each $R \in \{P\}$ belongs to the isotypic components attached to the elements $\pi \in \phi_R$, where ω_{π} is the central character of π . Then we have the following result ([10, Thm 1.4 resp. 2.3], or [24, Thm in III, 2.6])

Theorem. The automorphic cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ has a direct sum decomposition

$$H^*(G,E) = \bigoplus_{\{P\}\in\mathcal{C}} \bigoplus_{\phi\in\Phi_{E,\{P\}}} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

where, given $\{P\} \in C$, the second sum ranges over the set $\Phi_{E,\{P\}}$ of classes of associate irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of the Levi components of elements of $\{P\}$.

The summand in the direct sum decomposition of the cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ that is indexed by the full group $\{G\}$ will be called the *cuspidal cohomology of G with coefficients in E*, to be denoted $H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G, E)$. The decomposition of $H^*(G, E)$ according to the set C of classes of associate parabolic \mathbb{Q} - subgroups of G exhibits a natural complement to the cuspidal cohomology, namely the summands indexed by $\{P\} \in C, \{P\} \neq \{G\}$. Due to the results in [8] that these cohomology classes can be described by suitable derivatives of Eisenstein series or residues of these, one calls this complement

$$H^*_{\mathrm{Eis}}(G,E) := \bigoplus_{\{P\}\in\mathcal{C}, P\neq G} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

the Eisenstein cohomology of G with coefficients in E.

3. EISENSTEIN SERIES

In this section, following [21] and [24], we recall some facts regarding the analytic properties of Eisenstein series attached to cuspidal automorphic representations on the Levi components of proper parabolic \mathbb{Q} subgroups of a connected reductive algebraic \mathbb{Q} -group G. Special attention is given to the case of maximal proper parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup. We use these results to study the spaces $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$, $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P\}}$, which are of importance in the study of automorphic cohomology. We retain the notation of previous sections.

3.1. Definition of Eisenstein series. Let P be a standard parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup of G. We write $P = L_P N_P$ for its Levi decomposition. Let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $L_P(\mathbb{A})$. More precisely, this is an irreducible $(\mathfrak{l}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; L_P(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -module realized on the space of K-finite smooth functions in an irreducible subrepresentation of $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(L_P, \omega)$ for some central character ω . We denote by V_{π} the π -isotypic subspace of the space $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(L_P, \omega)$.

We suppose that π is normalized in such a way that the differential of the restriction of the central character of π to $A_P(\mathbb{R})^+$ is trivial. This assumption is just a convenient choice of coordinates, which makes the poles of the Eisenstein series attached to π real. As explained in [10, Section 1.3], it can be achieved by replacing π by an appropriate unitary twist. The twist just moves the poles of the Eisenstein series along the imaginary axis.

As in [10, Section 1.3], consider the space W_{π} of right K-finite smooth functions

$$f: N_P(\mathbb{A})L_P(\mathbb{Q})\backslash G(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathbb{C}$$

such that for every $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ the function

 $f_g(l) = f(lg)$

on $L_P(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus L_P(\mathbb{A})$ belongs to the π -isotypic subspace V_{π} of the space of cuspidal automorphic forms on $L_P(\mathbb{A})$. Then, for $f \in W_{\pi}$, and $\lambda \in \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P,\mathbb{C}}$, and for each $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$, one defines (at least formally) the Eisenstein series as

$$E_P^G(f,\lambda)(g) = \sum_{\gamma \in P(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus G(\mathbb{Q})} e^{\langle H_P(\gamma g), \lambda + \rho_P \rangle} f(\gamma g) = \sum_{\gamma \in P(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus G(\mathbb{Q})} f_\lambda(\gamma g)$$

where $f_{\lambda}(g) = f(g)e^{\langle H_P(g), \lambda + \rho_P \rangle}$, and ρ_P is the half-sum of positive roots with respect to P_0 in the root system Φ of G which are not positive roots of L_P . The pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the natural pairing of $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P_0,\mathbb{C}}$ and $\mathfrak{a}_{P_0,\mathbb{C}}$.

This Eisenstein series converges absolutely and uniformly in g if the real part $Re(\lambda)$ is sufficiently regular, i.e., lies deep enough inside the positive Weyl chamber \check{a}_P^{G+} defined by P. The assignment $\lambda \mapsto E_P^G(f, \lambda)(g)$ defines a map that is holomorphic in the region of absolute convergence of the defining series and has a meromorphic continuation to all of $\check{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}$. We refer to [24, Section IV.1] for proofs of these facts.

3.2. Filtration of $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$. In the case of the given parabolic Q-subgroup P, and the given associate class $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P\}}$ containing π , the space $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ introduced in Section 2 can be described using Eisenstein series attached to π as in [10, Section 1.3]. More precisely, there is a unique $\lambda_0 \in \check{\mathfrak{a}}_P$ such that the Eisenstein series $E(f,\lambda_0)$ attached to π (or its residue if there is a pole at $\lambda = \lambda_0$) is annihilated by J_E . There exists a polynomial $q(\lambda)$ on $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_P$ such that $q(\lambda)E(f,\lambda)$ is holomorphic at $\lambda = \lambda_0$. Then, the space $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is spanned by all coefficients in the Taylor expansion of $q(\lambda)E(f,\lambda)$ around $\lambda = \lambda_0$. This definition is independent on the choice of q, as well as the choice of a representative P for the associate class $\{P\}$ and a representative $\pi \in \phi_P$ for ϕ . These coefficients are in fact all possible residues and main values of derivatives of the Eisenstein series $E(f,\lambda)$ attached to π .

The $(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -module $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\}}$ has a filtration defined in [8, Section 6]. However, we use a slight modification as in [10, Section 5.2], where the filtration is given along the cuspidal support. According to the decomposition of $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\}}$ along the cuspidal support as in Section 1.8, it suffices to give the filtration of the $(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -modules $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$, where $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P\}}$ is the associate class of π . In this paper we consider only the (possibly trivial) lowest filtration step

$\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \subset \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi},$

given as the $(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -module $\mathcal{L}_{E, \{P\}, \phi}$ consisting of square-integrable automorphic forms on G supported in $\{P\}$ and the associate class of π . It is non-trivial if and only if the Eisenstein series $E(f, \lambda)$ has a square-integrable residue at $\lambda = \lambda_0$ for some choice of $f \in W_{\pi}$. In that case, it is isomorphic to the space of these residues when f ranges over W_{π} .

We remark that the fact that the space $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is a filtration step in the filtration defined in [8, Section 6] follows from the fact that J_E is the annihilator of a finite-dimensional representation. Indeed, the infinitesimal character of any finite-dimensional representation of $G(\mathbb{C})$ is represented by an element inside the open positive Weyl chamber $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0^{G+}$, and thus, the restrictions of the elements in its Weyl group orbit to any $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_P$ with $P \neq G$ are non-zero. This shows that the function T used for defining the filtration in [8, Section 6] obtains its minimal value if and only if we form the residual Eisenstein series from a residual representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$ itself, since only then the evaluation point is zero. This means that we obtain the residual representations of $G(\mathbb{A})$ supported in π alone in the lowest filtration step. These form $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$. However, this argument does not hold in general for any ideal of finite-codimension in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g})$ because the infinitesimal characters which are annihilated by such ideal might be on the boundaries of the Weyl chambers. In that case there really exist non-square-integrable automorphic forms in the lowest filtration step.

3.3. Eisenstein series of relative rank one. Let $P = P_{\alpha}$, denote the standard maximal parabolic \mathbb{Q} subgroup of G which corresponds to the subset $\Delta \setminus \{\alpha\} \subset \Delta$, where α is a simple root in Φ . In this special
case there is a convenient choice of an isomorphism $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^G \cong \mathbb{C}$. Let ρ_P be the half-sum of positive roots in Φ which are not positive roots of L_P . We choose

$$\widetilde{\rho}_P = \langle \rho_P, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle^{-1} \rho_P$$

as a basis for $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^G$ following Shahidi's convention in [31]. Here α^{\vee} is the coroot dual to α , and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the natural pairing. We always identify accordingly $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\lambda_s = \widetilde{\rho}_P \otimes s \in \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^G$.

As in the general case, for a cuspidal automorphic representation π of $L_P(\mathbb{A})$, which is normalized as above, one defines the space W_{π} , and then, for $f \in W_{\pi}$, and $\lambda_s \in \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^G$, and for each $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$, one defines (at least formally) the Eisenstein series by the same series as above. This Eisenstein series converges absolutely and uniformly in g if the real part Re(s) is sufficiently regular, i.e., lies deep enough inside the positive Weyl chamber defined by P. The assignment $s \mapsto E_P^G(f, \lambda_s)(g)$ defines a map that is holomorphic in the region of absolute convergence of the defining series and has a meromorphic continuation to all of $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^G$. It has a finite number of simple poles in the real interval $0 < \lambda_s \leq \rho_P$, i.e., all the remaining poles lie in the region Re(s) < 0. We refer to [24, Section IV.1] for proofs of these facts.

In this case the filtration of the space $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ defined in [8, Section 6] is a two-step filtration

$$\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \subset \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi},$$

as in [10, Section 5.2]. The space $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is spanned by the residues at s > 0 of the Eisenstein series attached to a function f such that for every $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ the functions f_g defined above belong to the π -isotypic subspace of the space of cuspidal automorphic forms on $L_P(\mathbb{A})$. Those residues are square-integrable automorphic forms by [24, Section I.4.11]. The quotient $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}/\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is spanned by the principal values of the derivatives of such Eisenstein series at $Re(s) \geq 0$.

3.4. Square-integrable cohomology. Having defined the space of square-integrable automorphic forms $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$, it is natural to consider its contribution to automorphic cohomology. Let

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

be the relative Lie algebra cohomology of $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$. The inclusion $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \subset \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ induces a map in the cohomology

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) \to H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E).$$

We are interested in the image of that map which we denote by

$$H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

Let

$$H_{\mathrm{Eis},(\mathrm{sq})}(G,E) = \bigoplus_{\{P\}\neq\{G\}} \bigoplus_{\phi\in\Phi_{E,\{P\}}} H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E).$$

Since every cuspidal automorphic form in $\mathcal{A}_{\text{cusp}}(G)$ is square–integrable, we have $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{G\},\phi} = \mathcal{A}_{E,\{G\},\phi}$, and the cuspidal cohomology coincides with

$$H^*_{\mathrm{cusp}}(G, E) = \bigoplus_{\phi \in \Phi_{E, \{G\}}} H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{G\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E).$$

Thus we define square–integrable automorphic cohomology of G with respect to E as

$$H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(G, E) = H^*_{\mathrm{cusp}}(G, E) \oplus H_{\mathrm{Eis}, (\mathrm{sq})}(G, E).$$

II. JACQUET-LANGLANDS CORRESPONDENCE

In this chapter, k denotes an algebraic number field, and D a division algebra central over k of degree d. We would like to compare the automorphic cohomology of the k-split general linear group defined over a number field k with the automorphic cohomology of its inner form – the general linear group over a division algebra D. In particular, we are interested in the case GL(2, D), where D is a quaternion division algebra central over k. The correspondence between automorphic representations belonging to the discrete spectrum of $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and its inner form is given by the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence between general linear groups and their inner forms defined in Badulescu [1] and Badulescu and Renard [2]. The former

paper deals with the case where D splits at all $v \in V_{\infty}$. The latter paper removes this assumption. We begin with a precise definition of considered groups.

1. A k-rank one form of the general linear group: GL(2, D)

1.1. The general linear group. Let GL(n) be the general linear group defined over k. It is a connected reductive algebraic k-group of semi-simple k-rank n-1, where $n \geq 2$. Let Q_0 be the minimal parabolic k-subgroup consisting of upper triangular non-singular matrices, let S be the maximal torus of diagonal matrices, and let $Q_0 = L_{Q_0}N_{Q_0}$ be its Levi decomposition where $L_{Q_0} := S$ and N_{Q_0} denotes the unipotent radical of Q_0 . Let Φ , Φ^+ , Δ denote the corresponding sets of roots, positive roots, simple roots, respectively. The set Δ is given as $\Delta = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_{n-1}\}$ where α_i denotes the usual projection $S \to k^{\times}$ given by the assignment diag $(t_1, \ldots, t_n) \mapsto t_i/t_{i+1}$. Let W be the Weyl group of GL(n) with respect to S.

The conjugacy classes with respect to GL(n,k) in the set $\mathcal{P}(GL(n))$ of parabolic k-subgroups are in oneto-one correspondence with the subsets of Δ . Corresponding to $J \subset \Delta$ there is the class represented by the standard parabolic subgroup Q_J . We let $S_J = (\bigcap_{\alpha \in J} \ker \alpha)^\circ$, and we denote the centralizer of S_J by $L_{Q_J} := Z_{GL(n)}(S_J)$. Then Q_J is the semidirect product of its unipotent radical N_{Q_J} by L_{Q_J} , a so called Levi decomposition of Q_J . The group L_{Q_J} is reductive, a Levi subgroup of Q_J . Notice that the characters of S in N_{Q_J} are exactly the positive roots which contain at least one simple root not in J. Since any Q in $\mathcal{P}(GL(n))$ is GL(n,k)-conjugate to a unique Q_J the corresponding subset $J \subset \Delta$ is called the type of Q, to be denoted J(Q). The groups Q_J are the standard parabolic Q-subgroups of GL(n) determined by the choice of S and the set Δ of simple roots.

One has the following description: Let $\rho = (r_1, ..., r_l)$ be an ordered partition of n into positive integers, i.e., an ordered sequence of positive integers so that $r_1 + ..., + r_l = n$. The corresponding standard parabolic subgroup Q_{ρ} consists of all matrices in GL(n, k) admitting a block decomposition in the form $(p_{i,j})$ with $p_{i,j}$ a $(r_i \times r_j)$ -matrix, and $p_{i,j} = 0$ for i > j. Every parabolic subgroup of GL(n) is conjugate to a subgroup of this type. More precisely, Q_{ρ} is of type $J_{\rho} = \Delta \setminus \{\alpha_{r_1+...+r_i} : i = 1, ..., n-1\}$, and the assignment $\rho \mapsto J_{\rho}$ defines a bijection between partitions of n and subsets of Δ . The standard Levi subgroup $L_{Q_{\rho}}$ of Q_{ρ} is the subgroup of matrices in Q_{ρ} where each block above the block diagonal is zero, i.e., $p_{i,j} = 0$ for i < j. Thus, there is an isomorphism $L_{Q_{\rho}} \cong GL(r_1) \times ... \times GL(r_l)$. A so called cuspidal parabolic subgroup corresponds up to conjugacy to the case where $r_i = 1$ or 2 for i = 1, ..., l.

In particular, if R is a maximal parabolic k-subgroup of GL(n) of type $\Delta \setminus \{\alpha_j\}$ then it is conjugate to the standard maximal parabolic k-subgroup

$$Q_j := Q_{\Delta \setminus \{\alpha_j\}} = \{(a_{ik}) \in GL(n) \mid a_{ik} = 0 \text{ for } k \le j < i\}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

We say that R is of type j. Note that in this case the Levi subgroup is isomorphic to $GL(j) \times GL(n-j)$. The associate class $\{Q_j\}$ of maximal parabolic k-subgroups R associated to Q_j consists of the groups R of type j and n-j. If n = 2m is even the elements R in $\{Q_m\}$ are conjugate to its opposite parabolic k-subgroup R^{opp} , that is, the conjugacy class of Q_m is self-opposite. Otherwise, for general n, the group Q_j is not conjugate to Q_j^{opp} . We note that there are $[\frac{n}{2}]$ associate classes of maximal parabolic k-subgroups in GL(n).

In terms of ordered partitions of n, the parabolic k-subgroups Q_{ρ} and $Q_{\rho'}$ of GL(n), corresponding to $\rho = (r_1, \ldots, r_l)$ and $\rho' = (r'_1, \ldots, r'_m)$, are associate if and only if l = m and there is a permutation p of l letters such that $r'_i = r_{p(i)}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, l$. Thus, associate classes of parabolic k-subgroups of GL(n) are parameterized by unordered partitions of n into positive integers.

Example – the case H = GL(4). In the case of the general linear group H = GL(4) there are three conjugacy classes of maximal parabolic k-subgroups; they are represented by the standard parabolic groups Q_1 , Q_2 , and Q_3 . Since Q_1 and Q_3 are associate, one has the two associate classes $\{Q_1\}$ and $\{Q_2\}$. The minimal parabolic k-subgroups of H form one associate class $\{Q_0\}$ represented by the standard parabolic subgroup $Q_0 := Q_\rho$ with $\rho = (1, 1, 1, 1)$. Finally, the three conjugacy classes of the standard parabolic k-subgroups

of *H* corresponding to the ordered sequences (2, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1) and (1, 1, 2) respectively form one associate class, to be denoted $\{Q_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}$, where $Q_{\{\alpha_1\}}$ is a parabolic *k*-subgroup of *H* of parabolic rank 2 and of type $J = \{\alpha_1\}$.

1.2. GL_2 over a central division algebra. Let A be a central simple algebra of degree d over an algebraic number field k. Given a positive integer q, let GL(q, A) be the connected reductive algebraic k-group whose group GL(q, A)(l) of rational points over a commutative k-algebra l containing k equals the group

$$GL_q(A_l) = \left\{ x \in M_q(A_l) \mid \operatorname{nrd}_{M_q(A_l)}(x) \neq 0 \right\},$$

where $A_l = A \otimes_k l$, and $\operatorname{nrd}_{M_q(A_l)}$ is the reduced norm on the $q \times q$ matrix algebra with entries in A_l . If q = 1 then $GL_1(A_l)$ is the group of invertible elements in the *l*-algebra A_l . The reduced norm defines a surjective *k*-morphism $GL(q, A) \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m$ of *k*-groups, whose kernel is a connected semi-simple algebraic *k*-group, to be denoted SL(q, A). We have

$$SL(q, A)(l) = SL_q(A_l) = \{x \in M_q(A_l) \mid \operatorname{nrd}_{M_q(A_l)}(x) = 1\}.$$

Let D be a central division k-algebra of degree d. Then the connected reductive k-group GL(2, D) is of semi-simple k-rank 1. The group Z'(k) of k-rational points of its center Z' is given by

$$Z'(k) = \left\{ g = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \mid \lambda \in k^{\times} \mathbf{1}_D \right\}.$$

We fix a maximal k-split torus $S' \subset GL(2, D)$ subject to

$$S'(k) = \left\{ g = \left(\begin{smallmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{smallmatrix}\right) \mid \lambda, \mu \in k^{\times} 1_D \right\}.$$

For the centralizer $L' := Z_{GL(2,D)}(S')$ of S' we have

$$L'(k) = \left\{ g = \left(\begin{smallmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & y \end{smallmatrix} \right) \mid x, y \in D^{\times} \right\}.$$

We may (and will) identify L' with the k-group $GL(1, D) \times GL(1, D)$.

Let $\Phi_k = \Phi(GL(2, D), S') \subset X^*(S')$ be the set of roots of GL(2, D) with respect to S'. The set $\{\alpha\}$ is a basis for Φ_k where α denotes the non-trivial character $S'/k \to \mathbb{G}_m/k$ defined by $\begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \lambda \mu^{-1}$. The corresponding minimal parabolic k-subgroup determined by $\{\alpha\}$ is denoted by Q'. Its Levi factor is $L_{Q'} = L'$, and we have a Levi decomposition of Q' into the semidirect product $L_{Q'}N_{Q'}$ of its unipotent radical $N_{Q'}$ by $L_{Q'}$.

Let l be a splitting field of D, thus, there is an isomorphism $\psi : D \otimes_k l \to M_d(l)$ of l-algebras, where $M_d(l)$ is the $d \times d$ matrix algebra with entries in l. We fix this isomorphism ψ once and for all. We denote by the same letter the isomorphism

$$\psi: GL(2,D) \times_k l \longrightarrow GL(n)/l$$
, with $n = 2d$

of algebraic *l*-groups induced by ψ . The group GL(2, D) is a *k*-form of the general linear *k*-group GL(2d). The image of the *l*-group $Q' \times_k l$ under ψ is the standard parabolic *l*-subgroup $Q_d = Q_{\Delta \setminus \{\alpha_d\}}$ in the notation introduced in the previous subsection for the general linear group. Its Levi subgroup L_{Q_d}/l is isomorphic to $GL(d)/l \times GL(d)/l$.

Example – the case H' = GL(2, D), D a quaternion division algebra. We include this example to fix the notation for the rest of the paper. Let D be a quaternion division algebra central over k. Let V_D be the finite set of places of k at which D does not split. Thus, V_D is the set of places v of k at which $D \otimes_k k_v \cong D_v$, where D_v is the unique (up to isomorphism) quaternion division algebra over k_v . For $v \notin V_D$ we have $D \otimes_k k_v \cong M_2(k_v)$, where $M_2(k_v)$ is the 2×2 matrix algebra over k_v . Let H' denote the algebraic k-group GL(2, D). It is an inner form of the algebraic k-group H = GL(4). The only conjugacy class of parabolic subgroups of H' is represented by $Q' = L_{Q'}N_{Q'}$, where $L_{Q'} \cong GL(1, D) \times GL(1, D)$ is the Levi factor. It is an inner form of the parabolic subgroup Q_2 of H, with the Levi factor $L_{Q_2} \cong GL(2) \times GL(2)$.

We write $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$ for the adèlic points of H'. Also we have $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$ for $v \in V_D$, and $H'(k_v) \cong GL_4(k_v)$ for $v \notin V_D$. The adèlic points of GL(1,D) are denoted by $D^{\times}_{\mathbb{A}_k}$. Also $GL(1,D)(k_v) \cong D^{\times}_v$ for $v \in V_D$, and $GL(1,D)(k_v) \cong GL_2(k_v)$ for $v \notin V_D$.

2. Local Jacquet–Langlands Correspondence

We retain the notation of the previous section. Classical local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence is a bijection between the set of isomorphism classes of square–integrable representations of $GL_n(k_v)$ and $GL_{n/d_v}(D_v)$, where k_v is the completion of k at a non–archimedean place v, and D_v is a central simple division algebra of degree d_v over k_v , where d_v divides n. This generalization of original local Jacquet– Langlands correspondence between $GL_2(k_v)$ and the multiplicative group of the quaternion division algebra over k_v (cf. [18]) is obtained by Deligne, Kazhdan and Vignéras in [7]. It is defined by a certain character relation.

For finite places $v \in V_f$ this correspondence is generalized to unitary representations by Badulescu in [1], and for infinite places $v \in V_{\infty}$, which means real places since there is no division algebra over \mathbb{C} , by Badulescu and Renard in [2]. Although we use the term unitary representation at all places, one should have in mind that at infinite places these are in fact Harish–Chandra modules. The correspondence for unitary representations is no longer injective nor surjective, and there exist on both sides unitary representations which are not involved in the correspondence. However, it is again defined using the same character relation, and the reason for missing representations is that, in some cases, this relation does not respect unitarity.

Since we are mainly interested in the infinite places, where the representations should be cohomological, we recall here in detail the local correspondence between $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$ of Badulescu and Renard [2], where \mathbb{H} denotes the Hamilton quaternions. The latter group is isomorphic to $H'(k_v)$ for places $v \in V_{\infty}$ at which D does not split, i.e., $v \in V_{\infty} \cap V_D$. For finite places we also recall the correspondence at the level of detail needed later on when dealing with the global correspondence.

2.1. Unitary dual of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. The unitary dual of GL(n) over \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{C} , and \mathbb{H} is classified by Vogan [37]. However, as in [2], we use the description and notation of [35], which is in analogy with the one introduced by Tadić when describing the unitary dual of GL(n) over a p-adic field in [33] and discussing the unitary dual of GL(n) over a p-adic division algebra in [34].

For a unitary character χ of \mathbb{R}^{\times} , let $\chi \circ \det_n$ denote the corresponding character of $GL_n(\mathbb{R})$ where \det_n is the determinant on $GL_n(\mathbb{R})$, and let $\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_n$ denote the corresponding character of $GL_n(\mathbb{H})$, where nrd_n is the reduced norm on $GL_n(\mathbb{H})$.

For a unitary character χ of \mathbb{R}^{\times} , let $\pi(\chi, \alpha)$, where $0 < \alpha < 1/2$, denote the complementary series representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$, i.e., the induced representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$ from the character $\chi|\cdot|^{\alpha} \otimes \chi|\cdot|^{-\alpha}$ of $\mathbb{R}^{\times} \times \mathbb{R}^{\times}$. It is irreducible and unitary.

Similarly, if ρ is either a unitary square–integrable representation δ , or a unitary character $\chi \circ \det_2$, of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$, and $0 < \alpha < 1/2$, let $\pi(\rho, \alpha)$ be the induced representation of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ from the representation $\rho |\det_2|^{\alpha} \otimes \rho |\det_2|^{-\alpha}$ of $GL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times GL_2(\mathbb{R})$. It is also irreducible and unitary.

Finally, for a unitary square-integrable representation δ of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$ we denote by $u(\delta, 2)$ the unique irreducible quotient of the induced representation of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ from the representation $\delta |\det|^{1/2} \otimes \delta |\det|^{-1/2}$ of $GL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times GL_2(\mathbb{R})$. Then $u(\delta, 2)$ is a unitary representation.

We introduce the following sets of (isomorphism classes of) unitary representations (cf. [35] and [2])

 $\begin{array}{rcl} \mathcal{U}_1 &=& \{\chi\}, \\ \mathcal{U}_2 &=& \{\chi \circ \det_2, \, \pi(\chi, \alpha), \, \delta &:& 0 < \alpha < 1/2\}, \\ \mathcal{U}_3 &=& \{\chi \circ \det_3\}, \\ \mathcal{U}_4 &=& \{\chi \circ \det_4, \, \pi(\chi \circ \det_2, \alpha), \, \pi(\delta, \alpha), \, u(\delta, 2) &:& 0 < \alpha < 1/2\}, \end{array}$

where χ ranges over all unitary characters of \mathbb{R}^{\times} , and δ over all unitary square–integrable representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$. The representations in \mathcal{U}_i are representations of $GL_i(\mathbb{R})$.

We introduce the same notation for $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. If $\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1$ is a character of \mathbb{H}^{\times} , let $\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \beta)$ with $0 < \beta < 1$ denote the corresponding complementary series representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. It is irreducible and unitary. Note that in this case the complementary series is "longer" and goes all the way to 1.

If δ' is an irreducible unitary representation of \mathbb{H}^{\times} which is not one-dimensional (it is certainly finitedimensional), then $\pi(\delta', \alpha)$, where $0 < \alpha < 1/2$, denotes the corresponding complementary series representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. It is irreducible and unitary. For such δ' , we let $u(\delta', 2)$ denote the unique irreducible quotient of the induced representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$ from the representation $\delta' \operatorname{nrd}_1^{1/2} \otimes \delta' \operatorname{nrd}_1^{-1/2}$ of $\mathbb{H}^{\times} \times \mathbb{H}^{\times}$. It is a unitary representation.

Then we define the following sets of (isomorphism classes of) unitary representations (cf. [2])

$$\begin{array}{lll} \mathcal{U}_1' &=& \left\{\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \, \delta'\right\}, \\ \mathcal{U}_2' &=& \left\{\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_2, \, \pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \beta), \, \pi(\delta', \alpha), \, u(\delta', 2) &:& 0 < \alpha < 1/2, \, 0 < \beta < 1\right\}, \end{array}$$

where χ ranges over all unitary characters of \mathbb{R}^{\times} , and δ' over all irreducible unitary representations of \mathbb{H}^{\times} which are not one-dimensional. The representations in \mathcal{U}'_i are representations of $GL_i(\mathbb{H})$.

Now the unitary duals of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$ are given in the following Theorem.

Theorem. The sets \mathcal{U}_i for i = 1, 2, 3, 4, and \mathcal{U}'_j for j = 1, 2, consist of irreducible unitary representations. Every representation induced from a tensor product of representations either in sets \mathcal{U}_i , or sets \mathcal{U}'_j , to the appropriate general linear group is irreducible and unitary. Every irreducible unitary representation of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$ is obtained in a unique way, up to the order of factors, as such an induced representation.

2.2. Jacquet-Langlands correspondence for $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. Now we follow [2] to define the archimedean local Jacquet-Langlands correspondence for unitary representations in our case. It is more convenient to define a map from representations of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ to those of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. However, this map is not defined on all irreducible unitary representations of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$. Those (irreducible) unitary representations for which the map is defined are called locally compatible.

By Theorem 2.1, every irreducible unitary representation of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ is induced from a tensor product of unique (up to permutation) elements of \mathcal{U}_i , i = 1, 2, 3, 4. The Jacquet–Langlands correspondence respects this induction process in a sense that the Jacquet–Langlands of such an induced representation is the induced representation of the Jacquet–Langlands of the elements of \mathcal{U}_i from which we induce. Therefore, it suffices to define the correspondence for representations in \mathcal{U}_i . We call these the basic unitary representations. Also, if just one of the basic unitary representations from which we induce is not compatible, then the whole induced representation is not compatible.

In the description of the local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence at a real place we use the notation D_m for square–integrable representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$, where $m \geq 2$ is an integer. The square–integrable representation D_m is characterized by the fact that its restriction to the maximal compact subgroup O(2) of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is of the form

$$D_m\big|_{O(2)} \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{j \equiv m \mod 2\\ j > m}} W_j,$$

where W_j , for $j \ge 2$, is the irreducible representation of O(2) obtained as the representation fully induced from the character $z \mapsto z^j$ of the index two subgroup U(1) in O(2). Hence, m is called the lowest O(2)-type of D_m , even though O(2) is not commutative. Another characterization of D_m is that it is the unique irreducible subrepresentation of the representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$ induced from the character $|\cdot|^{\frac{m-1}{2}} \operatorname{sgn}^m \otimes |\cdot|^{-\frac{m-1}{2}}$ of the maximal split torus.

Set	Repn	J.–L. corr.
\mathcal{U}_1	X	-
	$\chi \circ {\rm det}_2$	$\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1$
\mathcal{U}_2	$\pi(\chi, \alpha)$	—
	$\delta \cong D_2(\chi \circ \det_2)$	$\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1$
	$\delta \cong D_m(\chi \circ \det_2), m > 2$	$D'_m(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1)$
\mathcal{U}_3	$\chi\circ {\rm det}_3$	-
	$\chi \circ { m det}_4$	$\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_2$
	$\pi(\chi \circ \det_2, \alpha)$	$\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \alpha)$
\mathcal{U}_4	$\pi(\delta, \alpha), \delta \cong D_2(\chi \circ \det_2)$	$\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \alpha)$
	$\pi(\delta, \alpha), \delta \cong D_m(\chi \circ \det_2), m > 2$	$\pi(\delta', \alpha), \delta' \cong D'_m(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1)$
	$u(\delta, 2), \delta \cong D_2(\chi \circ \det_2)$	$\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, 1/2)$
	$u(\delta,2), \delta \cong D_m(\chi \circ \det_2), m > 2$	$u(\delta',2),\delta'\cong D'_m(\chi\circ\mathrm{nrd}_1)$

TABLE 1. Local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence at an infinite (real) place

The elements of \mathcal{U}_1 and \mathcal{U}_3 are not compatible. Also the complementary series representation $\pi(\chi, \alpha) \in \mathcal{U}_2$ is not compatible. The characters $\chi \circ \det_2 \in \mathcal{U}_2$ and $\chi \circ \det_4 \in \mathcal{U}_4$ correspond to the characters $\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1 \in \mathcal{U}'_1$ and $\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_2 \in \mathcal{U}'_2$, respectively. The complementary series representation $\pi(\chi \circ \det_2, \alpha) \in \mathcal{U}_4$ corresponds to $\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \alpha)$.

It remains to define the correspondence for representations involving a unitary square-integrable representation δ . In that case the correspondence depends on δ in the following way. If $\delta = D_2(\chi \circ \det_2) \in \mathcal{U}_2$ is of lowest O(2)-type 2, then by the classical Jacquet-Langlands correspondence it corresponds to the character $\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1 \in \mathcal{U}'_1$ of \mathbb{H}^{\times} , where χ is a unitary character of \mathbb{R}^{\times} . Observe that D_2 corresponds to the trivial character of \mathbb{H}^{\times} . In this case we also have $\pi(\delta, \alpha) \in \mathcal{U}_4$ corresponds to $\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \alpha) \in \mathcal{U}_2$, while $u(\delta, 2) \in \mathcal{U}_4$ corresponds to $\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, 1/2) \in \mathcal{U}_2$.

On the other hand, if $\delta = D_m(\chi \circ \det_2) \in \mathcal{U}_2$ is of lowest O(2)-type m > 2, then it corresponds to $\delta' = D'_m(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1) \in \mathcal{U}'_1$, which is not a one-dimensional representation of \mathbb{H}^{\times} . In this case $\pi(\delta, \alpha) \in \mathcal{U}_4$ and $u(\delta, 2) \in \mathcal{U}_4$ correspond to $\pi(\delta', \alpha) \in \mathcal{U}'_2$ and $u(\delta', 2) \in \mathcal{U}'_2$.

For the convenience of the reader, we summarize the correspondence for representations in \mathcal{U}_i , i=1,2,3,4, in Table 1. The definition shows that, even restricted to the set of compatible unitary representations of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$, the Jacquet–Langlands correspondence is neither injective, nor surjective. Injectivity fails, for example, for the trivial and the sign character of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ which are both mapped to the trivial character of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. Surjectivity fails since the complementary series representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$ attached to a character of \mathbb{H}^{\times} and $1/2 < \beta < 1$ are not in the image.

2.3. Unitary dual of $GL_4(k_v)$ and $GL_2(D_v)$ at $v \in V_f$. The unitary dual of the general linear group over a *p*-adic field is obtained by Tadić in [33], while over a *p*-adic division algebra he described in [34] the unitary dual depending on certain conjectures, which were finally proved by Sécherre in [30] and Badulescu and Renard in [3]. However, in our small rank case, the description follows directly from [7]. We consider the case of D_v the unique (up to isomorphism) quaternion division algebra over k_v .

As in the archimedean case, the unitary dual of $GL_4(k_v)$ consists of representations fully induced from certain basic unitary representations of appropriate general linear groups. These basic unitary representations are again divided into four sets \mathcal{V}_i , i = 1, 2, 3, 4, where \mathcal{V}_i contains the basic unitary representations of $GL_i(k_v)$, as follows.

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{V}_1 &= \{\chi\} \\ \mathcal{V}_2 &= \{\chi \circ \det_2, \, \pi(\chi, \alpha), \, \delta_2 \quad : \quad 0 < \alpha < 1/2 \} \\ \mathcal{V}_3 &= \{\chi \circ \det_3, \, \delta_3 \} \\ \mathcal{V}_4 &= \{\chi \circ \det_4, \, \pi(\chi \circ \det_2, \alpha), \, \pi(\delta_2, \alpha), \, u(\delta_2, 2), \, \delta_4 \quad : \quad 0 < \alpha < 1/2 \} \,, \end{split}$$

Set	Repn	J.–L. corr.
\mathcal{U}_1	X	-
\mathcal{U}_2	$\chi \circ \det_2 \pi(\chi, \alpha)$	$\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1$
	$\delta_2 \cong St_2(\chi \circ \det_2)$ $\delta_2 \text{ supercuspidal}$	$\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1 ho'$
\mathcal{U}_3	$\chi \circ \det_3 \ \delta_3$	
	$\chi \circ \det_4 \\ \pi(\chi \circ \det_2, \alpha) \\ \pi(\delta_2, \alpha), \delta_2 \cong St_2(\chi \circ \det_2)$	$\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_2 \\ \pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \alpha) \\ \pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}_1, \alpha)$
\mathcal{U}_4	$\begin{aligned} \pi(\delta_2, \alpha), \delta_2 &\equiv St_2(\chi \circ \det_2) \\ \pi(\delta_2, \alpha), \delta_2 \text{ supercuspidal} \\ u(\delta_2, 2), \delta_2 &\cong St_2(\chi \circ \det_2) \\ u(\delta_2, 2), \delta_2 \text{ supercuspidal} \end{aligned}$	$\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{Ind}_{1}, \alpha)$ $\pi(\rho', \alpha)$ $\pi(\chi \circ \operatorname{Ind}_{1}, 1/2)$ $u(\rho', 2)$
	δ_4	δ'

TABLE 2. Local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence at a finite place

where χ ranges over all unitary characters of k_v^{\times} , while δ_i ranges over all unitary square-integrable representations of $GL_i(k_v)$. Note that at a finite place there are square-integrable representation of $GL_i(k_v)$ for any *i*, and supercuspidal representations are also square-integrable. Since the notation here is in obvious analogy to the case $k_v = \mathbb{R}$ in Sect. 2.1, we do not repeat the explanation.

Similarly, we define sets \mathcal{V}'_i , for i = 1, 2, of basic unitary representation involved in the unitary dual of $GL_2(D_v)$. We have

$$\begin{array}{lll} \mathcal{V}'_1 &=& \{\chi \circ \mathrm{nrd}_1, \, \rho' \} \\ \mathcal{V}_2 &=& \{\chi \circ \mathrm{nrd}_2, \, \pi(\chi \circ \mathrm{nrd}_1, \beta), \, \pi(\rho', \alpha), \, u(\rho', 2), \, \delta' &:& 0 < \alpha < 1/2, \quad 0 < \beta < 1 \} \, , \end{array}$$

where χ ranges over all unitary characters of k_v^{\times} , ρ' over all irreducible unitary representations of D_v^{\times} which are not one-dimensional, and δ' over all unitary square-integrable representations of $GL_2(D_v)$. The representations in \mathcal{V}'_i are representations of $GL_i(D_v)$.

2.4. Jacquet–Langlands correspondence for $GL_4(k_v)$ and $GL_2(D_v)$ at $v \in V_f$. In the description of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence in Sect. 3 below, we also need some information at non–split finite places $v \in V_f \cap V_D$. For such places $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$, where D_v is the unique (up to isomorphism) quaternion division algebra over k_v , and the correspondence is a special case of the local result in [1].

Just as in the archimedean case, the correspondence respects induction from unitary representations of smaller general linear groups. Hence, it suffices to define it on the sets \mathcal{V}_i , for i = 1, 2, 3, 4, of basic unitary representations given in Sect. 2.3. The correspondence is summarized in Table 2.

Let us explain the unexplained notation used in Table 2. The square-integrable representation St_2 of $GL_2(k_v)$ is the Steinberg representation, which is the unique irreducible subrepresentation of the induced representation from the character $|\cdot|^{1/2} \otimes |\cdot|^{-1/2}$ of $k_v^{\times} \times k_v^{\times}$. Every unitary square-integrable representation which is not supercuspidal is a twist of St_2 by a unitary character χ of k_v^{\times} , i.e., it is of the form $St_2(\chi \circ \det_2)$. For a supercuspidal representation δ_2 of $GL_2(k_v)$ we denote by ρ' the corresponding representation of D_v^{\times} . It is not one-dimensional by the original Jacquet-Langlands correspondence as in [18]. Finally, the correspondence between δ_4 and δ' is just the bijection on square-integrable representations as defined in [7]. In [7] the correspondence is made more precise using the Bernstein-Zelevinsky classification (cf. [40], [4]).

3. GLOBAL JACQUET-LANGLANDS CORRESPONDENCE

Although the local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence for unitary representations seems quite complicated, it gives the crucial local ingredients for the definition of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence. This global correspondence between discrete spectra of a general linear group and its inner form is defined and proved in Badulescu [1] and Badulescu–Renard [2]. It seems much more natural than the local correspondences required for its definition.

In what follows we define the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence for the irreducible constituents of the discrete spectrum of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$. The definition uses the local correspondence of Section 2, which is defined for Harish–Chandra modules at infinite places $v \in V_{\infty}$, and smooth representations at finite places $v \in V_f$. Hence, one should have in mind, when dealing with irreducible constituents of the discrete spectrum, that we actually pass to the underlying $(\mathfrak{g}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; G(\mathbb{A}_f))$ -module without mentioning that explicitly.

3.1. Jacquet–Langlands correspondence between $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$. We first recall the original global correspondence of Jacquet and Langlands [18]. Note that all irreducible automorphic representations of $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$ are cuspidal. Originally the correspondence is a bijection between (cuspidal) automorphic representations of $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$ which are not one–dimensional and so–called compatible cuspidal automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$. This is extended in [1] and [2] to one–dimensional automorphic representations of $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$. These correspond to the residual representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$, which are all one–dimensional as well.

- **Theorem.** (1) There is a unique bijection between (cuspidal) automorphic representations of $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$ which are not one-dimensional, and cuspidal automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$ with square-integrable local component at each place where D does not split, such that if $\pi' \cong \bigotimes_v \pi'_v$ corresponds to $\pi \cong \bigotimes_v \pi_v$, then $\pi'_v \cong \pi_v$ at $v \notin V_D$, and π'_v corresponds to π_v by the local Jacquet-Langlands correspondence at $v \in V_D$.
 - (2) There is a unique extension of the bijection in (1) to an injection of all (cuspidal) automorphic representations of D[×]_{A_k} into automorphic representations of GL₂(A_k) belonging to the discrete spectrum such that if π' corresponds to π, then π is compatible, and the two local conditions of (1) are satisfied. More precisely, this extension maps one-dimensional representation χ ∘ nrd to χ ∘ det, where χ is a unitary character of k[×] \I_k.

3.2. Global correspondence. Again we restrict our attention to the case of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence between $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$. The center of both groups is isomorphic to the group of idèles \mathbb{I}_k via the isomorphism that assigns to an element $x \in \mathbb{I}_k$ the scalar matrix of the appropriate size with x on the diagonal. Hence, we may view the central characters of discrete spectrum automorphic representations of both groups as unitary characters of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$. We fix such a central character ω . It is preserved under global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence.

We say that an irreducible constituent of $L^2_{\text{disc}}(H,\omega)$ is (globally) compatible with respect to D if every local component π_v of π at a place $v \in V_D$ is locally compatible as a unitary representation of $H(k_v) \cong$ $GL_4(k_v)$, i.e., there is a unitary representation π'_v of $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$ corresponding to π_v by the local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence. In our case at hand, the main result of [1] regarding Jacquet–Langlands correspondence is as follows.

Theorem. There is a unique map Ξ from the set of irreducible constituents of $L^2_{\text{disc}}(H',\omega)$ to the set of irreducible constituents of $L^2_{\text{disc}}(H,\omega)$, such that if $\pi = \Xi(\pi')$ then

- π is compatible (with respect to D),
- $\pi_v \cong \pi'_v$ for $v \notin V_D$,
- π_v corresponds to π'_v by the local Jacquet-Langlands correspondence at $v \in V_D$.

The map Ξ is injective, and the image consists of all compatible constituents of $L^2_{\text{disc}}(H,\omega)$ with respect to D.

The following more precise description of the global correspondence is also proved in [1]. For a positive integer l let R_l be the standard parabolic k-subgroup of GL(ln)/k corresponding to the partition $\rho = (n, n, \ldots, n)$ of ln. Its Levi factor L_{R_l} is isomorphic to the direct product of l copies of GL(n)/k. Let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$. Let

$$\underline{t}_l = \left(\frac{l-1}{2}, \frac{l-3}{2}, \dots, -\frac{l-1}{2}\right) \in \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{R_l}$$

Then, we denote by $I(l,\pi)$ the representation of $GL_{ln}(\mathbb{A}_k)$ induced from the representation

$$\pi |\det|^{\frac{l-1}{2}} \otimes \pi |\det|^{\frac{l-3}{2}} \otimes \ldots \otimes \pi |\det|^{-\frac{l-1}{2}}$$

of the Levi factor $L_{R_l}(\mathbb{A}_k)$. This representation has a unique irreducible quotient which we denote by $J(l,\pi)$. It is a residual representation of $GL_{ln}(\mathbb{A}_k)$ if l > 1. For l = 1, we have by definition $I(1,\pi) = J(1,\pi) = \pi$. All residual representations of $GL_N(\mathbb{A}_k)$, for N > 1, are obtained in this way for some divisor l > 1 of N.

Theorem. Let π be an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$. There is a unique positive integer $s_{\pi,D}$, depending only on π and the division algebra D, which is defined by the condition that $J(l,\pi)$ is globally compatible (with respect to D) if and only if $s_{\pi,D}$ divides l. Moreover, $s_{\pi,D}$ divides the degree d of the division algebra.

A representation of the form $J(s_{\pi,D},\pi)$ of $GL_{ns_{\pi,D}}(\mathbb{A}_k)$ corresponds to a cuspidal automorphic representation π' of the inner form. A representation of the form $J(ms_{\pi,D},\pi)$, with m > 1, corresponds to a residual representation $J'(m,\pi')$ of the inner form, where m stands in this case for the point $\underline{t}'_m = (s_{\pi,D}\frac{m-1}{2}, s_{\pi,D}\frac{m-3}{2}, \ldots, -s_{\pi,D}\frac{m-1}{2})$, and the notation $J'(m,\pi')$ for inner forms is in an obvious analogy with the split case.

3.3. Discrete spectrum of $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_k)$. In order to describe the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence more precisely, we require the description of the discrete spectrum $L^2_{\text{disc}}(H,\omega)$ of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$. In [23], Mæglin and Waldspurger describe the residual part of the discrete spectrum for $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$. The decomposition into irreducibles of the cuspidal part was first proved by Gelfand, Graev and Piatetski–Shapiro in [11]. In [32] Shalika proved that each representation appears with multiplicity one.

Theorem. The discrete spectrum $L^2_{disc}(H,\omega)$ of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$ decomposes into

$$L^2_{\text{disc}}(H,\omega) \cong L^2_{\text{cusp}}(H,\omega) \oplus L^2_{\text{res}}(H,\omega),$$

where $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(H,\omega)$ is the cuspidal spectrum consisting of cuspidal elements, and $L^2_{\text{res}}(H,\omega)$ is its orthogonal complement called the residual spectrum. The cuspidal part $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(H,\omega)$ decomposes into a Hilbert space direct sum of all irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$ with central character ω , each appearing with multiplicity one. The residual part $L^2_{\text{res}}(H,\omega)$ decomposes along the cuspidal support into

$$L^2_{\mathrm{res}}(H,\omega) \cong L^2_{\mathrm{res},\{Q_0\}}(H,\omega) \oplus L^2_{\mathrm{res},\{Q_2\}}(H,\omega),$$

where

$$L^2_{\mathrm{res},\{Q_0\}}(H,\omega) \cong \bigoplus_{\mu} \mu \circ \det,$$

and the sum ranges over all unitary characters μ of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$ such that $\mu^4 = \omega$, while

$$L^2_{\mathrm{res},\{Q_2\}}(H,\omega) \cong \bigoplus_{\sigma} J(2,\sigma),$$

and the sum ranges over all irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations σ of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$ with central character ω_{σ} such that $\omega_{\sigma}^2 = \omega$.

3.4. Jacquet–Langlands correspondence for $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$. In our case at hand, we can make the correspondence Ξ described in the two theorems of Section 3.2 more explicit. Namely, we have the following explicit description of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence.

Proposition. Let π be an irreducible constituent of $L^2_{disc}(H,\omega)$. In view of Theorem 3.3 we have the following possibilities.

- (1) If π is cuspidal, then π is compatible with respect to D if and only if at all non-split places $v \in V_D$ the local component π_v is one of the following:
 - $v \in V_f$ and π_v is a unitary square integrable representation of $H(k_v) \cong GL_4(k_v)$,
 - π_v is a tempered representation of $H(k_v) \cong GL_4(k_v)$ fully induced from two unitary squareintegrable representations of $GL_2(k_v)$,
 - π_v is a complementary series representation of $H(k_v) \cong GL_4(k_v)$ attached to a unitary squareintegrable representation of $GL_2(k_v)$ and a real number $0 < \alpha < 1/2$.

Assume that π is compatible, and $\pi = \Xi(\pi')$. The local component π'_v of π' at $v \in V_D$ is according to the form of π_v one of the following

- a unitary square integrable representation of $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$ (this can be explicitly described in terms of Zelevinsky segments),
- a tempered representation of $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$ fully induced from a tensor product of two unitary representations of D_v^{\times} ,
- a complementary series representation of $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$ attached to a unitary representation of D_v^{\times} and a real number $0 < \alpha < 1/2$.
- (2) If $\pi \cong J(2,\sigma)$, where σ is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$, then π is always compatible with respect to D.
 - (a) If σ_v is square-integrable at all non-split places $v \in V_D$, let σ' be the cuspidal automorphic representation of $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$ corresponding to σ by the classical Jacquet-Langlands correspondence. Note that σ' is not one-dimensional. Then π corresponds to the residual representation $J'(2, \sigma')$ of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$.
 - (b) If there is a non-split place $v \in V_D$ such that σ_v is not square-integrable, then π corresponds to a cuspidal automorphic representation π' of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$. The local component π'_v of π' at $v \in V_D$ such that σ_v is not square-integrable is
 - either a tempered representation of H'(k_v) ≃ GL₂(D_v), which is fully induced from a tensor product of two unitary characters of D_v[×],
 - or a complementary series representation of $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$, attached to a unitary character of D_v^{\times} and a real number $0 < \alpha < 1/2$.
- (3) If $\pi \cong \mu \circ \det$, where μ is a unitary character of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$, then π is always compatible with respect to D. It corresponds by the global Jacquet-Langlands correspondence to the one-dimensional residual representation $\mu \circ \operatorname{nrd}$ of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$.

Proof. We prove each part of the proposition separately.

(1) Any cuspidal automorphic representation π of $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_k)$ is generic (cf. [32]). Hence, its local components are generic as well. The generic unitary dual, obtained in [33] over a *p*-adic field and [37] over an archimedean field, is of the same form. More precisely, for any $v \in V$ the local component π_v is a fully induced representation from certain basic unitary representations of the form χ , δ_i , $\pi(\chi, \alpha)$, $\pi(\delta_2, \alpha)$, where i = 2, 3, 4 if $v \in V_f$, and i = 2 if $v \in V_\infty$ (since at the real place only δ_2 exist).

Compatibility of π is determined by the local compatibility at $v \in V_D$. A local component π_v at $v \in V_D$ is compatible if and only if the basic unitary representation involved are compatible. This rules out the possibility of χ and $\pi(\chi, \alpha)$. Hence, in order to obtain a representation of $GL_4(k_v)$, there are only the three possibilities given in the theorem (the first one can occur only for $v \in V_D \cap V_f$ since there is no δ_4 at a real place).

If π is compatible, then the second Theorem in Sect. 3.2 shows that π' is cuspidal, because $\pi = J(1,\pi)$. The description of local components π'_v at $v \in V_D$ follows directly from Sect. 2.2 and Sect. 2.4.

- (2) The fact that $J(2, \sigma)$ is always compatible follows from the second Theorem in Sect. 3.2. Indeed, it shows that $s_{\sigma,D}$ divides the degree of D. Thus, in the case of a quaternion division algebra, either $s_{\sigma,D} = 1$ or $s_{\sigma,D} = 2$, and in both cases $J(2, \sigma)$ is compatible.
 - (a) If $s_{\sigma,D} = 1$, then σ itself is compatible. This is the situation of the original Jacquet–Langlands correspondence (cf. [18]). The condition of compatibility is precisely the condition on σ_v given in (2a). The rest of the claim directly follows from the second Theorem in Sect. 3.2.
 - (b) If $s_{\sigma,D} = 2$, then σ is not compatible, which is exactly the opposite of the previous case, as claimed. Again the second Theorem in Sect. 3.2 shows that in this case π' is cuspidal. For describing the local components π'_v we consider only places $v \in V_D$ at which σ_v is not square-integrable, because the other possibility is covered by the original Jacquet-Langlands correspondence as in part (2a). Then σ_v is either a tempered representation fully induced from two unitary characters χ_1 and χ_2 of k_v^{\times} , or a complementary series representation $\pi(\chi, \alpha)$, where χ is a unitary character of k_v^{\times} and $0 < \alpha < 1/2$.

Now π_v , for $v \in V_D$, can be written either as a fully induced representation from $\chi_1 \circ \det_2$ and $\chi_2 \circ \det_2$, or as $\pi(\chi \circ \det_2, \alpha)$. The claim follows from Sect. 2.2 and Sect. 2.4.

(3) Finally, the unitary characters $\mu \circ \det$ of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$ are compatible, because their local components are also characters of $H(k_v) \cong GL_4(k_v)$, and they correspond to characters of $H'(k_v) \cong GL_2(D_v)$ at all $v \in V_D$. Note that $s_{\mu,D} = 2$ for every unitary character μ of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$. Therefore, characters of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$ are not cuspidal.

3.5. Discrete spectrum of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$. As a consequence of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence explicitly described in Proposition 3.4, we obtain the decomposition of the discrete spectrum of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$. In [1] it is also proved that it is multiplicity one.

Theorem. The discrete spectrum $L^2_{\text{disc}}(H',\omega)$ of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$ decomposes into

$$L^2_{\text{disc}}(H',\omega) \cong L^2_{\text{cusp}}(H',\omega) \oplus L^2_{\text{res}}(H',\omega),$$

where $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(H',\omega)$ is the cuspidal spectrum consisting of cuspidal elements, and $L^2_{\text{res}}(H',\omega)$ is its orthogonal complement called the residual spectrum. The cuspidal part $L^2_{\text{cusp}}(H',\omega)$ decomposes into a Hilbert space direct sum of irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations with central character ω , each appearing with multiplicity one, and obtained by the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence either from a cuspidal automorphic representation of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$ as in part (1) of Proposition 3.4, or from a residual automorphic representation $J(2,\sigma)$ of $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$ with σ as in part (2b) of Proposition 3.4. The residual part $L^2_{\text{res}}(H',\omega)$ decomposes into a Hilbert space direct sum

$$L^2_{\mathrm{res}}(H',\omega) \cong \left(\bigoplus_{\mu} \mu \circ \mathrm{nrd}\right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\sigma'} J'(2,\sigma')\right),$$

where the first sum ranges over all unitary characters μ of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$ such that $\mu^4 = \omega$, and $\mu \circ \operatorname{nrd}$ is obtained by the Jacquet–Langlands correspondence from $\mu \circ \det$, while the second sum ranges over all cuspidal automorphic representations σ' of $D_{\mathbb{A}_k}^{\times}$ which are not one–dimensional, and $J'(2, \sigma')$ is obtained by the Jacquet–Langlands correspondence from $J(2, \sigma)$, where σ is as in part (2a) of Proposition 3.4, with central character $\omega_{\sigma} = \omega_{\sigma'}$ such that $\omega_{\sigma}^2 = \omega$.

3.6. **Remark.** We describe here the discrete spectrum of algebraic k-groups, although the definition in Chapter I, Sect. 1.8 refers only to \mathbb{Q} -groups. However, this generalization is straightforward, and can be obtained via the restriction of scalars from k to \mathbb{Q} .

III. Automorphic Cohomology of General Linear Groups – A Comparison

Since the automorphic cohomology was defined in Chapter I for connected reductive linear algebraic groups defined over \mathbb{Q} , we need to consider the restriction of scalars from k to \mathbb{Q} when dealing with k-groups. Thus, except in Sect. 1, in this chapter we retain the notation of the previous one, namely H = GL(4)/k and H' = GL(2, D)/k, where D is a quaternion division algebra central over a number field k. However, we let $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ and $G' = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H'$ be the \mathbb{Q} -groups obtained from H and H' by restriction of scalars, respectively. The goal of this chapter is to compare the automorphic cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ and $H^*(G', E)$, with respect to the trivial representation $E = \mathbb{C}$, and in particular, relate the possible non-trivial cohomology classes via the Jacquet–Langlands correspondence.

1. COHOMOLOGICAL REPRESENTATIONS AT ARCHIMEDEAN PLACES

We briefly discuss the constructive approach to the classification [39] of irreducible unitary representations of a connected real reductive Lie group with non-vanishing relative Lie algebra cohomology. This general result allows us to enumerate (up to infinitesimal equivalence) the irreducible unitary $(\mathfrak{m}_{H(\mathbb{R})}, O(4))$ -modules with non-vanishing Lie algebra cohomology in an explicit way, where O(4) is the maximal compact subgroup of $H(\mathbb{R}) \cong GL_4(\mathbb{R})$. We have to start off by determining the irreducible unitary $(\mathfrak{m}_{SL_4(\mathbb{R})}, SO(4))$ -modules with non-vanishing Lie algebra cohomology using the results in [39].

In this section we use a different notation then in the rest of the paper. Namely, G denotes a connected real reductive Lie group, $K \subset G$ a maximal compact subgroup. Write \mathfrak{g} for the Lie algebra of G, and write $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$ for its complexification. Given an irreducible unitary representation (π, H_{π}) of G we denote the Harish–Chandra module of H_{π} (i.e., the set of K–finite vectors in the space of C^{∞} –vectors of H_{π}) by the same letter or by $H_{\pi,K}$. We denote by W_G (resp. W_K) the Weyl group of G (resp. K).

1.1. The classification up to infinitesimal equivalence. Let G be a connected real reductive Lie group (of Harish-Chandra's class), $K \subset G$ a maximal compact subgroup. Let θ_K be the Cartan involution corresponding to the maximal compact subgroup $K \subset G$, and let $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{k} \oplus \mathfrak{p}$ be the corresponding Cartan decomposition. By definition a θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebra \mathfrak{q} of \mathfrak{g} is a parabolic subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$ such that $\theta_K \mathfrak{q} = \mathfrak{q}$, and $\overline{\mathfrak{q}} \cap \mathfrak{q} = \mathfrak{l}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is a Levi subalgebra of \mathfrak{q} where $\overline{\mathfrak{q}}$ refers to the image of \mathfrak{q} under complex conjugation with respect to the real form \mathfrak{g} of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$. Write \mathfrak{u} for the nilradical of \mathfrak{q} . Then $\mathfrak{l}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is the complexification of a real subalgebra \mathfrak{l} of \mathfrak{g} . The normalizer of \mathfrak{q} in G is connected since G is, and it coincides with the connected Lie subgroup L of G with Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} . The Levi subgroup L has the same rank as G, is preserved by the Cartan involution θ_K , and the restriction of θ_K to L is a Cartan involution. Moreover, the group L contains a maximal torus $T \subset K$. We will indicate below a construction of all possible θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebras \mathfrak{q} in \mathfrak{g} up to conjugation by K. There are only finitely many K-conjugacy classes of θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebras \mathfrak{q} in \mathfrak{g} .

A θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebra \mathfrak{q} gives rise to an irreducible unitary representation $A_{\mathfrak{q}}$ of G. It is constructed via cohomological induction as $\mathcal{R}^S_{\mathfrak{q}}$ (see [39, Thm. 2.5]) and it is uniquely determined up to infinitesimal equivalence by the K-conjugacy class of \mathfrak{q} . In the case that the θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebra coincides with the full algebra, that is, $\mathfrak{q}_0 := \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$, we take $A_{\mathfrak{q}} = \mathbb{C}$. We denote the Harish-Chandra module of $A_{\mathfrak{q}}$ by the same letter or by $A_{\mathfrak{q},K}$. One has

(1.1)
$$H^{j}(\mathfrak{g}, K, A_{\mathfrak{g}, K}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{L \cap K}(\wedge^{j-R}(\mathfrak{l} \cap \mathfrak{p}), \mathbb{C})$$

where $R = R(\mathfrak{q}) := \dim(\mathfrak{u} \cap \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{C}})$. Consequently, the Lie algebra cohomology with respect to the representation $A_{\mathfrak{q}}$ vanishes in degrees below $\dim(\mathfrak{u} \cap \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{C}})$ and above $\dim(\mathfrak{u} \cap \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{C}}) + \dim(\mathfrak{l} \cap \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{C}})$. Suppose (π, H_{π}) is an irreducible unitary representation (π, H_{π}) of G with

$$H^*(\mathfrak{g}, K, H_{\pi,K}) \neq 0.$$

Then there is a θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebra \mathfrak{q} of \mathfrak{g} so that $\pi \cong A_{\mathfrak{q}}$. One finds the construction of the representations $A_{\mathfrak{q}}$ in [25], a proof of their unitarity in [36] and the classification of the irreducible unitary representations of G with non-vanishing cohomology in [39].

Following [39] and [38, Sect. 4] we outline a construction of all θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebras \mathfrak{q} of \mathfrak{g} up to conjugation by K. Fix a maximal torus T in K. The centralizer H of T in G is a Cartan subgroup. According to the Cartan decomposition of \mathfrak{g} we may write H = TA with $A = H \cap (\exp \mathfrak{p})$. We denote the Lie algebra of T by \mathfrak{t}_c . Let $\Phi(\mathfrak{k}, \mathfrak{t}_c) =: \Phi_c$ be the system of roots for \mathfrak{t}_c in $\mathfrak{k}_{\mathbb{C}}$, and fix a system $\Phi_c^+ := \Phi^+(\mathfrak{k}, \mathfrak{t}_c) \subset \Phi(\mathfrak{k}, \mathfrak{t}_c)$ of positive roots. Similarly, we write Φ_n for the set of non-zero weights of \mathfrak{t}_c on $\mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{C}}$.

Fix an element $x \in i(\mathfrak{t}_c)_{\mathbb{R}}$ that is dominant for K, that is, $\gamma(x) \geq 0$ for all $\gamma \in \Phi^+(\mathfrak{k}, \mathfrak{t}_c)$. Then the θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebra associated to x is defined by

$$\mathfrak{q}_x = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \sum_{\gamma \in \Phi, \gamma(x) \geq 0} \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}, \gamma}$$

with $\Phi := \Phi_n \cup \Phi_c$. The corresponding Levi subalgebra $\overline{\mathfrak{q}_x} \cap \mathfrak{q}_x = (\mathfrak{l}_x)_{\mathbb{C}}$ is

$$(\mathfrak{l}_x)_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \sum_{\gamma \in \Phi, \gamma(x) = 0} \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}, \gamma}$$

The Levi subgroup is then described by $L_x = \{g \in G \mid \operatorname{Ad}(g)(x) = x\}.$

1.2. The case $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$. This general construction allows us to enumerate (up to infinitesimal equivalence) the irreducible unitary $(\mathfrak{m}_{GL_4(\mathbb{R})}, O(4))$ - modules with non-vanishing Lie algebra cohomology in an explicit way, where O(4) is a maximal compact subgroup of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$. The final result also appears in the thesis [19, Sect. 2].

First we have to deal with the pair consisting of the semi-simple real Lie group $G = SL(4, \mathbb{R})$ and the maximal compact subgroup K = SO(4). The Lie algebra \mathfrak{so}_4 is semi-simple of rank 2. Fix the maximal torus $T = SO(2) \times SO(2)$ in K. The centralizer H of T in G is a Cartan subgroup. Let $\{\gamma_1, \gamma_2\}$ be a basis for the system $\Phi(\mathfrak{k}, \mathfrak{t}_c)$ of positive roots for \mathfrak{t}_c in $\mathfrak{k}_{\mathbb{C}}$. Given an element $x \in i(\mathfrak{t}_c)_{\mathbb{R}}$ that is dominant for K, that is, $\gamma(x) \geq 0$ for all $\gamma \in \Phi(\mathfrak{k}, \mathfrak{t}_c)$, the θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebra associated to x is defined by

$$\mathfrak{q}_x = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \sum_{\gamma \in \Phi, \gamma(x) \geq 0} \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma}$$

with $\Phi := \Phi(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{t}_c)$. The corresponding Levi subalgebra $\overline{\mathfrak{q}_x} \cap \mathfrak{q}_x = (\mathfrak{l}_x)_{\mathbb{C}}$ is

$$(\mathfrak{l}_x)_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \sum_{\gamma \in \Phi, \gamma(x) = 0} \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}, \gamma}.$$

Following this construction one obtains as in [19, Sect. 2.1] the following list of θ_K -stable parabolic subalgebras \mathfrak{q} of \mathfrak{g} (up to conjugation by K = SO(4)), enumerated as \mathfrak{q}_j , $j = 1, \ldots, 6$, with

$(\mathfrak{l}_1)_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$	$\mathfrak{u}_1 = \{0\}$
$(\mathfrak{l}_2)_{\mathbb{C}}=\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},-\gamma_1}$	$\mathfrak{u}_2=\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2-\gamma_1}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2+\gamma_1}$
$(\mathfrak{l}_3)_{\mathbb{C}}=\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},-\gamma_2}$	$\mathfrak{u}_3=\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1-\gamma_2}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1+\gamma_2}$
$(\mathfrak{l}_4)_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2 - \gamma_1} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1 - \gamma_2}$	$\mathfrak{u}_4=\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1+\gamma_2}$
$(\mathfrak{l}_5)_{\mathbb{C}}=\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}}$	$\mathfrak{u}_5 = \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2-\gamma_1} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2+\gamma_1}$
$(\mathfrak{l}_6)_\mathbb{C}=\mathfrak{h}_\mathbb{C}$	$\mathfrak{u}_6=\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_1-\gamma_2}\oplus\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C},\gamma_2+\gamma_1}.$

We denote by $A_{\mathfrak{q}_j}$ the corresponding $(\mathfrak{m}_G, SO(4))$ -module. Second, by taking into account the induction functor Ind from the category of $(\mathfrak{m}_G, SO(4))$ - modules to the category of $(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4))$ - modules, we now are in the position to determine (up to infinitesimal equivalence) the irreducible unitary $(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4))$ - modules with non-vanishing relative Lie algebra cohomology. Note that $\mathfrak{m}_G = \mathfrak{m}_{GL_4(\mathbb{R})}$

Representation	Langlands data	Basic unitary representations	$H^q(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4); \cdot \otimes \mathbb{C}) \neq 0$
$Y_{\mathfrak{q}_1}$	$(Q_0(\mathbb{R}), 1 \otimes \ldots \otimes 1, (3/2, 1/2, -1/2, -3/2))$	$1 \circ \det_4$	q = 0, 5
$Y_{\mathfrak{q}_1} Y_{\mathfrak{q}_1}^{\mathrm{det}}$	$(Q_0(\mathbb{R}),\operatorname{sgn}\otimes\ldots\otimes\operatorname{sgn},(3/2,1/2,-1/2,-3/2))$	$\operatorname{sgn} \circ \operatorname{det}_4$	q = 4, 9
$Y_{\mathfrak{q}_2}$	$(Q_2(\mathbb{R}), D_3 \otimes D_3, (1/2, -1/2))$	$u(D_3, 2)$	q = 3, 6
$Y_{\mathfrak{q}_{5}}$	$(Q_2(\mathbb{R}), D_2 \otimes D_4, (0,0))$	D_{2}, D_{4}	q = 4, 5
$R^2_{\mathfrak{q}_4}(\mathbb{C})$	$(Q_{\{\alpha_2\}}(\mathbb{R}), 1 \otimes D_4 \otimes 1, (1/2, 0, -1/2))$	$1 \circ \det_2, D_4$	q = 3, 4
$R^2_{\mathfrak{q}_4}(\mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{det}})$	$(Q_{\{\alpha_2\}}(\mathbb{R}), \operatorname{sgn} \otimes D_4 \otimes \operatorname{sgn}, (1/2, 0, -1/2))$	$\operatorname{sgn}\operatorname{odet}_2, D_4$	q = 5, 6

TABLE 3. Unitary Harish-Chandra modules for $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ with non-zero cohomology

Representation	Langlands data	Basic unitary representations	$H^q(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'; \cdot \otimes \mathbb{C}) \neq 0$
$X_{\mathfrak{q}_1'}$	$(Q'(\mathbb{R}), 1\otimes 1, (1, -1))$	$1 \circ nrd_2$	q = 0, 5
$X_{\mathfrak{q}'_2}$	$(Q'(\mathbb{R}), D'_3 \otimes D'_3, (1/2, -1/2))$	$u(D_3^\prime,2)$	q = 1, 4
$X_{\mathfrak{q}'_3}$	$(Q'(\mathbb{R}), 1_{\mathbb{H}^{ imes}} \otimes D'_4, (0, 0))$	$1_{\mathbb{H}^{ imes}}$, D_4'	q = 2, 3

TABLE 4. Unitary Harish–Chandra modules for $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$ with non–zero cohomology

- **Proposition.** (1) The $(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4))$ modules $\operatorname{Ind}(A_{\mathfrak{q}_j})$, j = 2, 3 and j = 5, 6 are irreducible, to be denoted by $Y_{\mathfrak{q}_j}$. One has $Y_{\mathfrak{q}_2} \cong Y_{\mathfrak{q}_3}$ and $Y_{\mathfrak{q}_5} \cong Y_{\mathfrak{q}_6}$ respectively.
 - (2) The $(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4))$ module $\operatorname{Ind}(A_{\mathfrak{q}_1})$ splits into the two irreducible summands $Y_{\mathfrak{q}_1} := \mathbb{C}$ and $Y_{\mathfrak{q}_1}^{det} := \mathbb{C}_{det}$.
 - (3) The $(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4))$ module $\operatorname{Ind}(A_{\mathfrak{q}_4})$ splits into two irreducible $(\mathfrak{m}_G, O(4))$ modules, more precisely one has $\operatorname{Ind}(A_{\mathfrak{q}_j}) = R^2_{\mathfrak{q}_4}(\mathbb{C}) \oplus R^2_{\mathfrak{q}_4}(\mathbb{C}_{det})$.

Proof. The first assertion follows from the fact that $L_j \cap O(4) = L_j \cap SO(4)$ for j = 2, 3 and j = 5, 6 and that \mathfrak{q}_2 is conjugate under O(4) to \mathfrak{q}_3 respectively \mathfrak{q}_5 is conjugate under O(4) to \mathfrak{q}_6 . With regard to the other two assertions we observe that the $L_j \cap O(4)$ -module $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathbb{C})$ obtained from the trivial $L_j \cap SO(4)$ -module \mathbb{C} splits into the two irreducibles \mathbb{C} and \mathbb{C}_{det} if j = 1 and 4.

Having determined the unitary Harish–Chandra modules with non–zero cohomology for $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$, it is convenient to have their description in terms of the Langlands classification and in terms of the classification of unitary representations used in Chapter II. We summarize these results in Table 3. The first column is the notation used in the proposition above. The second column gives the data defining the Langlands quotient of the representation, i.e., the standard parabolic subgroup Q, a square–integrable representation δ of its Levi factor $L_Q(\mathbb{R})$, and an element $\nu \in \check{\mathfrak{a}}_Q^+$ given in the basis consisting of the determinants on each general linear group appearing in the Levi factor L_Q . The third column lists the basic unitary representations, see Sect. 2.1 in Chapter II, appearing in the classification of the unitary representation. We also give in the last column the degrees in which the cohomology is non–zero. In all these degrees the cohomology space is isomorphic to \mathbb{C} .

1.3. The case $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. The same general classification of unitary representations with non-zero cohomology can be applied to the real Lie group $G' = GL_2(\mathbb{H})$, and its maximal compact subgroup K'. It turns out that there are up to infinitesimal equivalence three such representations which we denote by $X_{q'_j}$, j = 1, 2, 3. We describe these representations in terms of the Langlands classification, and the classification of unitary representations given in Sect. 2.1 in Chapter II. Note that here the elements of $\check{a}_{Q'}$ are given in the basis consisting of the reduced norm on each copy of \mathbb{H}^{\times} . We also give the degrees in which the cohomology is non-vanishing. In those degrees the cohomology space is isomorphic to \mathbb{C} . As in the case $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$, we summarize the final result in Table 4, and leave the details to the reader. Comparing the description in terms of basic unitary representations for $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$, given in the third column of Table 3 and Table 4, it is clear that the representations with non-zero cohomology are related by the local Jacquet-Langlands correspondence described in Sect. 2.2 in Chapter II. More precisely, the first two representations in Table 3 correspond to $X_{\mathfrak{q}'_1}$, the third one correspond to $X_{\mathfrak{q}'_2}$, and the remaining three to $X_{\mathfrak{q}'_3}$. However, the degrees in which their cohomology is non-vanishing varies. Even if two representations of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ correspond to the same representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$, the degrees in which the cohomology is nonvanishing are not the same.

2. The Automorphic Cohomology of the General Linear Group $G = Res_{k/Q}GL_4/k$

Let H = GL(4)/k be the general linear group defined over k. We consider in this section the automorphic cohomology of the \mathbb{Q} -group $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ obtained by restriction of scalars. The standard parabolic \mathbb{Q} subgroups of G are obtained from the standard parabolic k-subgroups of H by restriction of scalars. In particular, we denote by $P_i = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}Q_i$, for i = 1, 2, 3, the three maximal proper standard parabolic \mathbb{Q} subgroups of G, by $P_0 = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}Q_0$ the minimal one, and by $P_{\{\alpha_i\}} = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}Q_{\{\alpha_i\}}$, for i = 1, 2, 3, the three intermediate ones. As for H, among maximal parabolic subgroups P_1 and P_3 are associate, while the intermediate ones $P_{\{\alpha_i\}}$ are all associate. Thus, there are four associate classes of proper parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroups of G, namely the class of minimal parabolic subgroups $\{P_0\}$, two classes of maximal ones $\{P_1\}$ and $\{P_2\}$, and one class of intermediate ones $\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}$.

The automorphic cohomology $H^*(G, E)$ has a direct sum decomposition $H^*(G, E) = H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G, E) \oplus H^*_{\text{Eis}}(G, E)$ where

$$H^*_{\mathrm{Eis}}(G,E) := \bigoplus_{\{P\}\in\mathcal{C}, P\neq G} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

is the Eisenstein cohomology of G with coefficients in E. The sum ranges over associate classes of proper parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroups of G. In this section, we discuss the internal structure of each of the corresponding summands in this decomposition of the automorphic cohomology.

2.1. Cuspidal cohomology. The cuspidal cohomology $H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G, E)$ decomposes as a direct sum as

$$H^*_{\mathrm{cusp}}(G, E) = \bigoplus_{\phi \in \Phi_{E, \{G\}}} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{G\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

where the sum ranges over the set $\Phi_{E,{G}}$ of classes of associate irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of G.

We define certain constants required to state a vanishing result for cuspidal cohomology of the general linear group. For a given real Lie group M with finitely many connected components and reductive Lie algebra $2q(M) = \dim M - \dim K_M$ where K_M is a maximal compact subgroup of M. Set $\ell_0(M) := \operatorname{rk}(M) - \operatorname{rk}(K_M)$, where rk denotes the absolute rank, and write $q_0(M) := \frac{1}{2}(2q(M) - \ell_0(M))$. In the case of the real Lie group $GL_n(\mathbb{R})$ these values can be made explicit; we refer to [27, Sect. 3.5]. The interval $[q_0(M), q_0(M) + \ell_0(M)]$ is centered around the middle dimension of the symmetric space associated to the Lie group M. For the group $H(\mathbb{R}) \cong GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ of interest to us, one obtains the interval [4, 5].

Theorem. Let k/\mathbb{Q} be an algebraic number field, and let G/\mathbb{Q} be the algebraic \mathbb{Q} -group $\operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(n)$ obtained from the general linear group GL(n) defined over k by restriction of scalars. Let (ν, E) be an irreducible finite dimensional algebraic representation of $G(\mathbb{C})$. Then

$$H^{j}_{\text{cusp}}(G, E) = 0 \text{ if } j \notin [q_0(G(\mathbb{R})), q_0(G(\mathbb{R})) + \ell_0(G(\mathbb{R}))] \cap \mathbb{Z}.$$

In particular, if k is totally real, and $G = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}} H$ with H = GL(4)/k, then

$$H^{j}_{\text{cusp}}(G, E) = 0 \text{ if } j \notin [4[k:\mathbb{Q}], 5[k:\mathbb{Q}]] \cap \mathbb{Z}_{2}$$

where $[k : \mathbb{Q}]$ is the degree of extension k/\mathbb{Q} .

Proof. We consider a summand $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{G\}, \phi}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E$ corresponding to the associate class ϕ of a cuspidal automorphic representation π of $G(\mathbb{A})$. We may view π as a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$. By the Künneth rule, since $G(\mathbb{R}) \cong \prod_{v \in V_\infty} GL_n(k_v)$ with $k_v = \mathbb{R}$ or $k_v = \mathbb{C}$, the corresponding representation π_v must have non-trivial cohomology for all $v \in V_\infty$.

On the other hand, π is cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$, and hence generic. Thus, the local components π_v are generic as well. As they are also unitary, comparing the classification of generic unitary dual for $GL_n(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$ of Vogan [37] to the classification of cohomological unitary representations as in [39], it is not too difficult to see that π_v is necessarily tempered. For a detailed discussion of this fact see [27, Sect. 3.5] or [29, Chap. 6]. The degrees where these specific tempered representations have non-vanishing cohomology give the required bounds. If k is totally real, and $G = Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ with H = GL(4)/k, the vanishing result follows by the Künneth rule from the vanishing outside $[4,5] \cap \mathbb{Z}$ for $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ mentioned before the statement of the Theorem.

By the construction of cuspidal cohomology classes for congruence subgroups of GL_n/k with respect to suitable coefficient systems (ν, E) as pursued in [20] this bound $q_0(G(\mathbb{R}))$ is sharp (at least if we vary the choice of the base field k).

In the case of the trivial representation $E = \mathbb{C}$, there is up to equivalence exactly one unitary representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{R})$ which is generic and has non-trivial cohomology with respect to $E = \mathbb{C}$. It is tempered, and given as the fully induced representation from a square-integrable representation of the Levi factor $L_{Q_{\rho}}$ of the parabolic subgroup Q_{ρ} with $\rho = (r_1, \ldots, r_m)$, where $m = \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor$ if n is even, and $m = \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor + 1$ if n is odd, and $r_i = 2$ for $i = 1, \ldots, \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor$, and if n is odd $r_m = 1$. The square-integrable representation of $L_{Q_{\rho}}$ is the tensor product of discrete series representations D_{n-2i+2} of $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$ of lowest O(2)-type n - 2i + 2 for $i = 1, \ldots, \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor$ (see Section 2.2 in Chapter II), and if n is odd a trivial character of \mathbb{R}^{\times} .

In particular, if n = 4, we obtain that this representation is fully induced from the tensor product $D_4 \otimes D_2$, where D_i is the discrete series representation of lowest O(2)-type *i* (see Section 2.2 in Chapter II), of the Levi factor $L_{Q_2}(\mathbb{R}) \cong GL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times GL_2(\mathbb{R})$.

2.2. The summands $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$, P maximal parabolic. Let $\{P\}$ be one of the two associate classes $\{P_1\}$ and $\{P_2\}$ of maximal parabolic Q-subgroups of the reductive Q-group G. As explained in Sect. 3.2 in Chapter I, given $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P\}}$, there is a natural two step filtration

$$\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \subset \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi},$$

of the space $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ of automorphic forms, where $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is the subspace of $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ consisting of square integrable automorphic forms. The space $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is spanned by the residues at s > 0 of the Eisenstein series attached to functions $f \in W_{\pi}$, where $\pi \cong \sigma \otimes \sigma' \in \phi_P$ with σ and σ' cuspidal automorphic representations of the general linear groups appearing in the Levi factor L_P of P (see Sect. 3.3 in Chapter I). Those residues are square–integrable automorphic forms [24, Section I.4.11]. The quotient $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi}/\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ is in both cases spanned by the principal value of the derivatives of such Eisenstein series at $Re(s) \geq 0$.

By the description of the residual spectrum of $H(\mathbb{A}_k) \cong GL_4(\mathbb{A}_k)$ (cf. [23], recalled in Sect. 3.3 in Chapter II), which is the same as $G(\mathbb{A})$, the space $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_1\},\phi} = (0)$ for every associate class ϕ . In the other case, $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_2\},\phi} \neq (0)$ if and only if ϕ is the associate class of a cuspidal representation $\pi \cong \sigma \otimes \sigma$, i.e., $\sigma' \cong \sigma$. Then we have the following result in our case of interest which is the main theorem obtained in the case $Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL_n$ in [10, Sect. 5.6].

Theorem. Let $\{P\}$ be an associate class of maximal parabolic Q-subgroups of the group G, and let $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P\}}$ be an associate class of irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of the Levi components of elements in $\{P\}$.

(1) If $\{P\} = \{P_1\}$, that is, the elements in $\{P\}$ are not conjugate to their opposite P^- , then

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_1\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0).$$

Consequently, $H^*_{(sq)}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_1\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0)$, and $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_1\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$ is generated by so called regular Eisenstein cohomology classes.

- (2) If $\{P\} = \{P_2\}$, that is, the elements in $\{P\}$ are conjugate to their opposite P^- , then
 - (a) if ϕ is the associate class of $\pi \cong \sigma \otimes \sigma'$ with $\sigma \ncong \sigma'$, then

 $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_2\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0)$

Consequently, $H^*_{(sq)}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_2\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0)$, and $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_1\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$ is generated by so called regular Eisenstein cohomology classes.

(b) Otherwise, i.e., in the case π ≅ σ ⊗ σ, the space H*(m_G, K_ℝ; L_{E,{P₂}, φ ⊗_ℂ E) is non-trivial. It consists of square integrable cohomology classes represented by residues of suitable Eisenstein series attached to π. In particular, if k/Q is totally real of degree [k : Q], then}

$$H^{q}(\mathfrak{m}_{G}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_{2}\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{C}^{[k:\mathbb{Q}]}, & \text{if } q \in [3[k:\mathbb{Q}], 6[k:\mathbb{Q}]] \cap (3\mathbb{Z}) \text{ and} \\ \Pi_{v} \cong J_{v}(P_{2}(\mathbb{R}), D_{3} \otimes D_{3}, (1/2, 1/2)) \text{ for } v \in V_{\infty}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

where Π_v is the local component at the place v of $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_2\},\phi}$, and J_v stands for the Langlands quotient.

Observe that in the case (2b) of the Theorem, the square-integrable cohomology space

$$H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_2\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

is not given. It is still an open problem to determine this space. However, it is proved in [10] that the square–integrable cohomology classes are separated from the regular ones by the degree in which they may occur.

2.3. The summand $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_0\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$. Let $\{P_0\}$ be the associate class of the fixed minimal parabolic Q-subgroup P_0 of the reductive Q-group $\operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(n)$ obtained from the k-group GL(n)/k by the restriction of scalars. Let $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P_0\}}$ be an associate class of cuspidal automorphic representations of $L_0(\mathbb{A})$. By the description of the residual spectrum of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$ by Mœglin and Waldspurger [23], the space of square-integrable automorphic forms $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_0\},\phi}$ inside $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_0\},\phi}$ is trivial unless ϕ_{P_0} contains a character of $L_0(\mathbb{A})$ of the form $\chi \otimes \chi \otimes \ldots \otimes \chi$, where χ is a unitary character of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$. If this necessary condition is satisfied, then $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_0\},\phi}$ is one-dimensional and isomorphic to $\chi \circ \det$.

In any case, by Franke's filtration [8, Thm. 14, Sect. 6], the quotient $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_0\},\phi}/\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_0\},\phi}$ is spanned by principal values of the derivatives of all the Eisenstein series, attached to either residual automorphic representation, supported in $\chi \otimes \chi \otimes \ldots \otimes \chi$, of the Levi factor of a proper parabolic subgroup which is not minimal, or a cuspidal automorphic representation $\chi \otimes \chi \otimes \ldots \otimes \chi$ of $L_0(\mathbb{A})$. Then, in the case of interest of this paper, we have the following result in cohomology. The proof follows directly from the above discussion, except for the degrees of non-vanishing cohomology which is a consequence of the Künneth rule and Sect. 1.2.

Theorem. Let $\{P_0\}$ be the associate class of the minimal parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup P_0 of the group G, and let $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P_0\}}$ be an associate class of irreducible cuspidal automorphic representations of the Levi components of elements in $\{P_0\}$. Let $\chi_1 \otimes \chi_2 \otimes \chi_3 \otimes \chi_4 \in \phi_{P_0}$ be a unitary character of $L_0(\mathbb{A})$, where χ_i is a unitary character of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$ for i = 1, 2, 3, 4.

(1) If there are $i \neq j$ such that $\chi_i \neq \chi_j$, then

 $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_0\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0).$

Consequently, $H^*_{sq}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_0\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0).$

(2) Otherwise, i.e., in the case $\chi_1 = \chi_2 = \chi_3 = \chi_4$, we denote this character by χ . Then, the space $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_0\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$ is non-trivial. It consists of square integrable cohomology classes represented by residues of suitable Eisenstein series. In particular, if k/\mathbb{Q} is totally real of degree $[k : \mathbb{Q}]$, and t_0 the number of places $v \in V_\infty$ such that $\chi_v = \operatorname{sgn}$, then

$$H^{q}(\mathfrak{m}_{G}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_{0}\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = \begin{cases} \text{if } q \in [4t_{0}, 5[k : \mathbb{Q}] + 4t_{0}] \cap (5\mathbb{Z} + 4t_{0}) \text{ and} \\ \chi_{v} = \mathbf{1} \text{ or } \chi_{v} = \text{sgn at all places } v \in V_{\infty}, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The problem of determining the image $H^*_{(sq)}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_0\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$ was studied for the minimal parabolic subgroup in the case $SL(n)/\mathbb{Q}$ by Franke in [9].

2.4. The summand $H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$. Let $\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}$ be the associate class of intermediate parabolic Q-subgroups of the reductive Q-group G, i.e., the class consisting of proper parabolic Q-subgroups which are neither minimal, nor maximal. By Sect. 1.1 in Chapter II, there is only one such associate class. Again, the results of Mœglin and Waldspurger [23], show that there are no square–integrable automorphic forms in the space $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}}$. Thus in this case the space $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi}$ of square–integrable automorphic forms inside $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi}$ is trivial for any associate class $\phi \in \Phi_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}}$. Thus, the same holds in cohomology, i.e.,

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0).$$

Consequently, the space $H^*_{(sq)}(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = (0).$

By Franke [8, Thm. 14, Sect. 6], the space $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}}$ itself is spanned by the principal values of the derivatives of all the Eisenstein series attached to residual automorphic representations, supported in $\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}$, of the Levi factor $L_{P_2}(\mathbb{A})$ of the parabolic subgroup P_2 , and the cuspidal Eisenstein series supported in $\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\}$. More precisely, if ϕ is the associate class of a cuspidal automorphic representation $\pi \cong \sigma \otimes \chi_1 \otimes \chi_2$ of $L_{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}}(\mathbb{A})$, with $\chi_1 = \chi_2$ denoted by χ , then the Franke filtration of $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi}$ is a two-step filtration

$$\mathcal{A}'_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi} \subset \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi}$$

where $\mathcal{A}'_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi}$ is spanned by the holomorphic values of all the derivatives of the Eisenstein series attached to the representation $\sigma \otimes \chi \circ \det_2$ of $L_{P_2}(\mathbb{A})$ at an appropriate evaluation point. The quotient is spanned by main values of the derivatives of the Eisenstein series attached to π itself at an appropriate evaluation point. Otherwise, if $\chi_1 \neq \chi_2$, then $\mathcal{A}'_{E,\{P_{\{\alpha_1\}}\},\phi} = (0)$.

3. The Automorphic Cohomology of $G' = Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}GL(2, D)$

We consider now the automorphic cohomology of the \mathbb{Q} -group G' which is obtained from the k-group H' = GL(2, D) by restriction of scalars, where D is a quaternion division algebra central over k. Since there is a unique conjugacy (and associate) class of proper \mathbb{Q} -parabolic subgroups of G', given by $P' = \operatorname{Res}_{k/\mathbb{Q}}Q'$, the decomposition of the automorphic cohomology $H^*(G', E)$ with respect to associate classes of parabolic subgroups consists of two summands

$$H^*(G', E) = H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G', E) \bigoplus H^*_{\text{Eis}}(G', E),$$

where

$$H^*_{\mathrm{Eis}}(G', E) = H^*(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P'\}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E).$$

We are primarily interested into square–integrable cohomology, namely

$$H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(G', E) = H^*_{\mathrm{cusp}}(G', E) \bigoplus H^*_{\mathrm{Eis}, (\mathrm{sq})}(G', E)$$

We study each summand separately using the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence (see Chapter II, Sect. 3) to make a comparison with the case of $G = Res_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$, where H = GL(4)/k, considered in Sect. 2. 3.1. Global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence in cohomology. The injective map Ξ of the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence between $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $H(\mathbb{A}_k)$, defined in Section 3.2 in Chapter II, is in fact also an injective map from the discrete spectrum representations of $G'(\mathbb{A})$ into the discrete spectrum representations of $G(\mathbb{A})$. This map gives rise to a map, also denoted by Ξ , between the cohomology spaces

$$\Xi: H^*(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{R'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) \to H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \Xi(\mathcal{L}_{E, \{R'\}, \phi'}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

where either R' = P' or R' = G', and $\Xi(\mathcal{L}_{E,\{R'\},\phi'})$ is defined as follows. Let $\pi' \in \phi'_{R'}$ be a cuspidal automorphic representation of the Levi factor $L_{R'}(\mathbb{A})$. Observe that we allow here R' = G', and thus $L_{R'} = G'$. Then, by the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence, there is a discrete spectrum representation $\Xi(\pi')$ of the corresponding Levi factor in G. Hence, $\Xi(\pi')$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$ for uniquely determined parabolic \mathbb{Q} -subgroup P of G, and an associate class ϕ of a cuspidal automorphic representation of its Levi factor which is the support of $\Xi(\pi')$. Then we define

$$\Xi(\mathcal{L}_{E,\{R'\},\phi'}) = \mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}.$$

In accordance to the terminology regarding the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence, introduced in Sect. 3.2 in Chapter II, we say that a cohomology space

$$H^*\left(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P\}, \phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E\right)$$

for G is D-compatible if it is among the spaces in the range of Ξ . This is equivalent to D-compatibility of $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi}$. The properties of the map Ξ in cohomology are given in the following theorem.

Theorem. In the notation as above, the cohomology space

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{R'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

is non-trivial if and only if

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_G, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \Xi(\mathcal{L}_{E, \{R'\}, \phi'}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

is non-trivial.

The proof follows directly from the description of the local Jacquet–Langlands correspondence at a real place in Sect. 2.2 in Chapter II. Namely, it shows that the representations with non–zero cohomology of $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ correspond to such representations for $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$. In what follows, we refine the map Ξ by the degrees of cohomology. However, this will be done considering case by case below.

Although we have now defined a map Ξ between the cohomology of the spaces of square–integrable automorphic forms, it is not clear how is this related to the summands in the decomposition along the cuspidal support of the square–integrable automorphic cohomology. More precisely, we would like to understand the following diagram

$$(3.1) \qquad \begin{array}{ccc} H^{*}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K_{\mathbb{R}}'; \mathcal{L}_{E,\{R'\},\phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) & \xrightarrow{\Xi} & H^{*}(\mathfrak{m}_{G}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^{*}_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K_{\mathbb{R}}'; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{R'\},\phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) & \xrightarrow{\Xi_{(\mathrm{sq})}} & H^{*}_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_{G}, K_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E,\{P\},\phi} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) \end{array}$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P\},\phi} = \Xi(\mathcal{L}_{E,\{R'\},\phi'})$, the vertical maps are induced from the inclusion of the space of squareintegrable ones into the space of automorphic forms. The map $\Xi_{(sq)}$ is to be considered case by case below.

3.2. Cuspidal cohomology. The cuspidal cohomology decomposes into

$$H^*_{\mathrm{cusp}}(G',E) = \bigoplus_{\phi' \in \Phi_{E,\{G'\}}} H^*(\mathfrak{m}_{G'},K'_{\mathbb{R}};\mathcal{L}_{E,\{G'\},\phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E),$$

where the sum ranges over all associate classes of cuspidal automorphic representations of $G'(\mathbb{A})$ which are represented by a representation $\pi' \in \phi_{G'}$ with non-trivial cohomology with respect to E. Hence, any cuspidal automorphic representation π' of $G'(\mathbb{A})$ whose infinite component is cohomological has non-trivial automorphic cohomology in the same degrees as its infinite component as a Harish–Chandra module. We have thus the following result.

Theorem. Assume k is a totally real number field of degree $[k : \mathbb{Q}]$. Let t denote the number of archimedean places of k at which D does not split. Then, $H^q_{cusp}(G', E)$ vanishes if

$$q \notin \left(\left[4[k:\mathbb{Q}] - 2t, 5[k:\mathbb{Q}] - 2t \right] \cap \mathbb{Z} \right) \cup \left(\left[3[k:\mathbb{Q}] - 2t, 6[k:\mathbb{Q}] - 2t \right] \cap (3\mathbb{Z} + t) \right).$$

In particular, if $k = \mathbb{Q}$ and D is non-split at the real place of \mathbb{Q} , then $H^q_{\text{cusp}}(G', E)$ vanishes in the degrees q = 0 and $q \ge 5$.

More precisely, let ϕ' be the associate class of a cuspidal automorphic representation π' of $G'(\mathbb{A})$. If π' is such that $\Xi(\pi')$ is cuspidal (see Sect. 3.4 in Chapter II), then

$$H^{q}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{G'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = \begin{cases} if q \in [4[k : \mathbb{Q}] - 2t, 5[k : \mathbb{Q}] - 2t] \cap \mathbb{Z} \text{ and} \\ \mathbb{C}^{[k:\mathbb{Q}]}, & \pi'_{v} \cong \begin{cases} Ind_{P_{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{GL_{4}(\mathbb{R})}(D_{2} \otimes D_{4}), & v \in V_{\infty} \setminus V_{D}, \\ Ind_{P'(\mathbb{H})}^{GL_{2}(k_{v})(\mathbb{H})}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{H}^{\times}} \otimes D'_{4}), & v \in V_{\infty} \cap V_{D}. \end{cases} \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

If π' is such that $\Xi(\pi')$ is residual (see Sect. 3.4 in Chapter II), then

$$H^{q}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{G'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = \begin{cases} if q \in [3[k:\mathbb{Q}] - 2t, 6[k:\mathbb{Q}] - 2t] \cap (3\mathbb{Z} + t) \text{ and} \\ \mathbb{C}^{[k:\mathbb{Q}]}, & \pi'_{v} \cong \begin{cases} J_{v}(P_{2}(\mathbb{R}), D_{3} \otimes D_{3}, (1/2, 1/2)), & v \in V_{\infty} \setminus V_{D}, \\ J'_{v}(P'(\mathbb{H}), D'_{3} \otimes D'_{3}, (1/2, -1/2)), & v \in V_{\infty} \cap V_{D}, \\ 0, & otherwise, \end{cases}$$

where J_v and J'_v denote the Langlands quotients in $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$, respectively.

Proof. It suffices to show the second claim of the theorem, since it implies the vanishing result for the cuspidal cohomology $H^*_{\text{cusp}}(G', E)$. Viewing π' as a cuspidal automorphic representation of $H'(\mathbb{A}_k)$, and applying the Künneth rule, the theorem reduces to the consideration of local components at archimedean places. These were studied in Sect. 1.3.

Note that the non-vanishing of $H^q_{\text{cusp}}(G', E)$ in the degrees where the theorem does not give a vanishing result depends only on the existence of cuspidal automorphic π' with the required archimedean components. In the case where $\Xi(\pi')$ is residual, the non-vanishing reduces to the existence of a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$ with given square-integrable representations at archimedean places, and at least one non-split non-archimedean place where the local component is not square-integrable. In the other case where $\Xi(\pi')$ is cuspidal, the non-vanishing is equivalent to the existence of a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_k)$ with the given tempered representation at all archimedean places, and the local components at non-split non-archimedean places as in part (1) of Proposition 3.4 in Chapter II.

We consider finally the diagram (3.1). If $\Xi(\pi')$ is cuspidal, both vertical maps are isomorphisms because the target space is a part of cuspidal cohomology. Thus, in this case $\Xi_{(sq)}$ can be identified with Ξ . In the other case, i.e., $\Xi(\pi')$ is residual, only the left hand side vertical map is an isomorphism. Thus, $\Xi_{(sq)}$ is not determined by Ξ , although Ξ gives the possible range of $\Xi_{(sq)}$. Finally note that when applying Ξ there is a shift in the degrees in which the cohomology space is non-zero. In the case of a totally real number field kthis shift equals 2t, where t is the number of non-split places of D.

3.3. Eisenstein cohomology. In the case of Eisenstein cohomology, the space of square–integrable automorphic forms $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P'\},\phi'}$ is a proper subspace of $\mathcal{A}_{E,\{P'\},\phi'}$. Hence, the cohomology space

$$H^*(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

just gives possible non-trivial classes in the corresponding square-integrable cohomology space

$$H^*_{(\mathrm{sq})}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{A}_{E, \{P'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E)$$

The problem of determining which classes are indeed non-trivial in the latter space is subtle and out of the scope of our consideration in this paper. However, the former space can be described via the global Jacquet–Langlands correspondence.

Theorem. Assume k is a totally real number field of degree $[k : \mathbb{Q}]$. Let t denote the number of archimedean places of k at which D does not split. Let ϕ' be the associate class of a cuspidal automorphic representation $\pi'_1 \otimes \pi'_2$ of the Levi factor $L'(\mathbb{A})$ of P'. If $\pi'_1 \neq \pi'_2$, then $H^*_{\text{Eis},(\text{sq})}(G', E)$ is trivial.

Suppose that $\pi'_1 = \pi'_2 = \pi'$. If π' is not one-dimensional, then

$$H^{q}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = \begin{cases} if q \in [3[k : \mathbb{Q}] - 2t, 6[k : \mathbb{Q}] - 2t] \cap (3\mathbb{Z} + t) \text{ and} \\ \mathbb{C}^{[k:\mathbb{Q}]}, & \Pi'_{v} \cong \begin{cases} J_{v}(P_{2}(\mathbb{R}), D_{3} \otimes D_{3}, (1/2, 1/2)), & v \in V_{\infty} \setminus V_{D}, \\ J'_{v}(P'(\mathbb{H}), D'_{3} \otimes D'_{3}, (1/2, -1/2)), & v \in V_{\infty} \cap V_{D}. \end{cases} \\ 0, & otherwise, \end{cases}$$

where Π'_v is the local component at the place v of $\mathcal{L}_{E,\{P'\},\phi'}$, and J_v and J'_v denote the Langlands quotient in $GL_4(\mathbb{R})$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{H})$, respectively. If $\pi' \cong \chi \circ \operatorname{nrd}$, where χ is a unitary character of $k^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{I}_k$, let t'_0 denote the number of split archimedean places where $\chi_v = \operatorname{sgn}$. Then

$$H^{q}(\mathfrak{m}_{G'}, K'_{\mathbb{R}}; \mathcal{L}_{E, \{P'\}, \phi'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} E) = \begin{cases} \quad \text{if } q \in [4t'_{0}, 5[k : \mathbb{Q}] + 4t'_{0}] \cap (5\mathbb{Z} + 4t'_{0}) \text{ and} \\ \chi_{v} = \mathbf{1} \text{ or } \chi_{v} = sgn \text{ at all places } v \in V_{\infty}, \\ 0, \qquad \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. As in the proof of Theorem 3.2, the Künneth rule reduces the proof to local considerations of Sect. 1.2 and Sect. 1.3. \Box

For the Eisenstein cohomology spaces the diagram (3.1) is out of reach of the methods of this paper. The vertical arrows both may not be isomorphisms. Thus, the relation between Ξ and $\Xi_{(sq)}$ is not clear at all. The shift in the degrees when applying Ξ for the case of totally real number field depends on whether the cuspidal support π' is one-dimensional or not. If not the shift is again 2t, where t is the number of non-split archimedean places of D. If $\pi' = \chi \circ$ nrd is one-dimensional, the shift in degrees is $4(t_0 - t'_0)$, where $t_0 - t'_0$ equals the number of archimedean places at which D does not split and $\chi_v = \text{sgn.}$

We remark at the end that one could try to follow the original approach of Langlands to determine the spaces of residues of the Eisenstein series for $G'(\mathbb{A})$, instead of using the Jacquet–Langlands correspondence of Badulescu resp. Badulescu and Renard which relies on the trace formula. The difficulty in applying that approach is in the fact that the Langlands–Shahidi method for normalization of intertwining operators (cf. [31]) is not available for groups which are not quasi–split. To overcome this difficulty one should find a way to compare the normalizing factors between the inner and split form of the group. This can not be done in general. Nevertheless, this approach was used in the thesis [19], as well as in the Appendix of [1] where a substantial ingredient was already established by the trace formula in the body of the paper. For inner forms of some split classical groups the same approach is pursued in [12], [13], [14], [15].

References

- [1] A.I. BADULESCU, Global Jacquet-Langlands correspondence, multiplicity one and classification of automorphic representations (with an appendix by N. GRBAC), Invent. Math. **172** (2008), 383–438.
- [2] A.I. BADULESCU, D. RENARD, Unitary dual of GL(n) at archimedean places and global Jacquet-Langlands correspondence, Compositio Math. 146 (2010), 1115–1164.
- [3] A.I. BADULESCU, D. RENARD, Sur une conjecture de Tadić, Glas. Mat. Ser. III 39(59) (2004), 49-54.
- [4] J. BERNSTEIN, A.V. ZELEVINSKY, Induced representations of reductive p-adic groups I, Ann. scient. Èc. Norm. Sup. (4) 10 (1977), 441–472.

- [5] A. BOREL, H. JACQUET, Automorphic forms and automorphic representations, in: A. BOREL, W. CASSELMAN, eds., Automorphic Forms, Representations and L-functions, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 33 part I, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1979, pp. 189–202.
- [6] A. BOREL, J.-P. LABESSE, J. SCHWERMER, On the cuspidal cohomology of S-arithmetic groups of reductive groups over number fields, Compositio Math. 102 (1996), 1–40.
- [7] P. DELIGNE, D. KAZHDAN, M.-F. VIGNÉRAS, Représentations des algèbres centrales simples p-adiques, in: Représentations des groupes réductifs sur un corps local, Hermann, Paris, 1984, pp. 33–117.
- [8] J. FRANKE, Harmonic analysis in weighted L₂-spaces, Ann. scient. Èc. Norm. Sup. (4) **31** (1998), 181–279.
- [9] J. FRANKE, A topological model for some summand of the Eisenstein cohomology of congruence subgroups, in: W.T. GAN, S.S. KUDLA, Y. TSCHINKEL, eds., Eisenstein Series and Applications, Progress Maths. 258, Birckhäuser, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 2008, pp. 27–86.
- [10] J. FRANKE, J. SCHWERMER, A decomposition of spaces of automorphic forms, and the Eisenstein cohomology of arithmetic groups, Math. Ann. 311 (1998), 765–790.
- [11] I.M. GELFAND, M.I. GRAEV, I.I. PIATETSKI-SHAPIRO, Representation Theory and Automorphic Functions, Saunders, Philadelphia, 1969.
- [12] N. GRBAC, Correspondence between the residual spectra of rank two split classical groups and their inner forms, in: G. Muić, J. Hoffmann–Jørgensen, eds., Functional analysis IX, Various Publ. Ser. (Aarhus) 48, Univ. Aarhus, Aarhus, 2007, pp. 44–57.
- [13] N. GRBAC, On the residual spectrum of Hermitian quaternionic inner form of SO_8 , Glas. Mat. Ser. III **44(64)** (2009), 11–81.
- [14] N. GRBAC, Residual spectra of split classical groups and their inner forms, Canad. J. Math. 61 (2009), 779–806.
- [15] N. GRBAC, The residual spectrum of an inner form of Sp₈ supported in the minimal parabolic subgroup, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 (2009), 3977–4012.
- [16] G. HARDER, On the cohomology of discrete arithmetically defined groups, in: Discrete subgroups of Lie groups and applications to moduli (Internat. Colloq., Bombay, 1973), Oxford Univ. Press, Bombay, 1975, pp. 129–160.
- [17] G. HARDER, Eisenstein cohomology of arithmetic groups. The case GL₂, Invent. Math. 89 (1987), 37–118.
- [18] H. JACQUET, R.P. LANGLANDS, Automorphic Forms on GL(2), Lect. Notes in Math. 114, Springer, Berlin–Heidelberg–New York, 1970.
- [19] V. KRAFFT, Eisensteinreihen und zugehörige Kohomologieklassen von arithmetischen Untergruppen der Einheiten der 2× 2-Matrizen über einer indefiniten rationalen Quaternionenalgebra, Thesis, Kath. Universität Eichstätt, 1992, unpublished.
- [20] J.-P. LABESSE, J. SCHWERMER, On liftings and cusp cohomology of arithmetic groups, Invent. Math. 83 (1986), 383-401.
- [21] R.P. LANGLANDS, On the functional equations satisfied by Eisenstein series, Lect. Notes in Math. 544, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1976.
- [22] R.P. LANGLANDS, letter to Armand Borel, October 25, 1972.
- [23] C. MOEGLIN, J-L. WALDSPURGER, Le spectre résiduel de GL(n), Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. 22 (1989), 605-674.
- [24] C. MOEGLIN, J-L. WALDSPURGER, Décomposition spectrale et séries d'Eisenstein, Progress in Math. 113, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Berlin, 1994.
- [25] R. PARTHASARATHY, A generalisation of the Enright-Varadarajan modules, Compositio Math. 36 (1978), 53–73.
- [26] J. SCHWERMER, Kohomologie arithmetisch definierter Gruppen und Eisensteinreihen, Lect. Notes in Math. 988, Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1983.
- [27] J. SCHWERMER, Holomorphy of Eisenstein series at special points and cohomology of arithmetic subgroups of $SL_n(\mathbb{Q})$, J. Reine Angew. Math. **364** (1986), 193–220.
- [28] J. SCHWERMER, Special cycles and automorphic forms on arithmetically defined hyperbolic 3-manifolds, Asian J. Mathematics 8 (2004), 837–860.
- [29] J. SCHWERMER, The cohomological approach to cuspidal automorphic representations, in: D. GINZBURG, E. LAPID, D. SOUDRY, eds., Automorphic Forms and L-functions I. Global Aspects a volume in honor of Steve Gelbart, Contemp. Math. 488, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009, pp. 257–284.
- [30] V. SÉCHERRE, Proof of the Tadić conjecture U0 on the unitary dual of GL(m, D), J. reine angew. Math. **626** (2009), 187–204.
- [31] F. SHAHIDI, A proof of Langlands' conjecture on Plancherel measures; complementary series of p-adic groups, Ann. of Math. 132 (1990), 273-330.
- [32] J.A. SHALIKA, The multipilicity one theorem for Gl_n , Ann. of Maths. (2) 100 (1974), 171–193.
- [33] M. TADIĆ, Classification of Unitary Representations in Irreducible Representations of General Linear Group (Non-Archimedean Case), Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. (4) 19 (1986), 335–382.
- [34] M. TADIĆ, Induced Representations of GL(n, A) for p-adic Division Algebras A, J. Reine Angew. Math. **405** (1990), 48–77. [35] M. TADIĆ, $GL(n, \mathbb{C})^{\uparrow}$ and $GL(n, \mathbb{R})^{\uparrow}$, in: D. GINZBURG, E. LAPID, D. SOUDRY, eds., Automorphic Forms and L-functions
- [35] M. TADIC, GL(n, C) and GL(n, K), in. D. GRAZBORG, E. DAFID, D. SOUDAT, eds., Automorphic Forms and D-functions II. Local Aspects – a volume in honor of Steve Gelbart, Contemp. Math. 489, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009, pp. 285–313.

NEVEN GRBAC AND JOACHIM SCHWERMER

- [36] D. VOGAN, Unitarizability of certain series of representations, Ann. of Math. 120 (1984), 141–187.
- [37] D. VOGAN, The Unitary Dual of GL(n) over an Archimedean Field, Invent. Math. 83 (1986), 449–505.
- [38] D. VOGAN, Cohomology and group representations, in: T.N. BAILEY, A.W. KNAPP, eds., Representation Theory and Automorphic Forms, Proc. Symp. Pure Maths. 61, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 219–243.
- [39] D. VOGAN, G. ZUCKERMAN, Unitary Representations with Non-Zero Cohomology, Compositio Math. 53 (1984), 51–90.
- [40] A.V. ZELEVINSKY, Induced representations of reductive p-adic groups II. On irreducible representations of GL(n), Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. (4) 13 (1980), 165 210.

Neven Grbac, Department of Mathematics, University of Rijeka, Omladinska 14, HR-51000 Rijeka, Croatia E-mail address: neven.grbac@math.uniri.hr

FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF VIENNA, NORDBERGSTRASSE 15, A-1090 VIENNA, AUSTRIA, AND ERWIN SCHRÖ-DINGER INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS, BOLTZMANNGASSE 9, A-1090 VIENNA, AUSTRIA *E-mail address*: Joachim.Schwermer@univie.ac.at

32